

# **ANNUAL PLAN 2009 – 2010**

# **CONTENTS**

		Page
1.	Past year's performance	4
1.1	Chief Executive's summary of the year	4
1.2	Performance overview	6
1.3	Summary of financial performance	13
1.4	Other major issues	15
2.	Future Business Plans	16
2.1	Overall Vision	16
2.2	Strategic Overview	17
2.3	Summary of Financial Forecasts	39
2.4	Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy	42
2.5	Financing and Working Capital Strategy	42
2.6	Summary of Key Assumptions	43
3.	Risk Analysis	44
3.1	Introduction	44
3.2	Governance risk	44
3.3	Mandatory service risks	47
3.4	Financial risk assessment	47
3.5	Risk of any other non-compliance with Terms of Authorisation	48
3.6	Presentation of key risks	48
4.	Declarations and self-certification	52
5.	Membership	54
5.1	Membership report	54
5.2	Membership commentary	57

6.	Finar	ncial Projections	60
7.	Supp	oorting schedules	61
7.1	Sched	dule 2	61
7.2	Sched	dule 3	64
8.	Appe	endices	65
Apper	ndix 1:	Summary PEST Analysis	65
Apper	ndix 2:	Summary SWOT Analysis	66
Apper	ndix 3:	5-Year Integrated Business Plan: 2 <sup>nd</sup> Year	
		2008/09 Implementation Plan	67
Apper	ndix 4:	Capital Development Plan 2009 - 2012	75

#### 1 PAST YEAR'S PERFORMANCE

# 1.1 Chief Executive's summary of the year

#### Background and introduction

The Trust provides a wide range of community and inpatient services for children, young people, adults of working age and older adults who live in the City of London, Hackney, Newham and Tower Hamlets. It also provides Forensic services to these boroughs as well as North East London Boroughs including: Barking and Dagenham, Havering, Redbridge and Waltham Forest. The Trust provides other specialist mental health services to North London, Hertfordshire and Essex. The specialist Chronic Fatigue Syndrome/ME adult outpatient service also serves North London and the South of England.

The East London areas served by the Trust are the most culturally diverse and deprived areas in England and therefore provide significant challenges for the provision of mental health services. The Trust's local services are provided to a population of 710,000 in East London and the Trust's forensic services are provided to a population of 1.5 million in North East London.

The Trust operates from 47 community and inpatient sites and has four main inpatient sites, employs approximately 2,830 staff (as at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2009) and has 642 general and specialist inpatient beds.

The Trust's vision is: To provide high quality mental health care to our local communities. We aim to do this in partnership with service users, their carers and families, and statutory and voluntary organisations.

This vision has guided our direction of travel during our first full year as an NHS Foundation Trust and underpins our key priorities for 2009/10. We regularly discuss our key annual plan priorities with our Members Council and the wider membership.

#### Highlights of the year

The last year has been the Trust's first full year as a Foundation Trust. I am extremely proud of the way staff have embraced the new opportunities brought by Foundation Trust status. We have made good progress on improving the quality and range of services that we provide to our service users and have made significant improvements in the quality of our community premises. We have achieved our financial targets and plans and have made excellent progress towards our challenging target of a 6% vacancy rate, with the Trust wide figure currently standing at 7.6% which is the lowest vacancy level across London Mental Health Trusts. This is an important marker of progress in our drive to employ a high quality and stable workforce.

This overall progress was reflected in our ratings from the Healthcare Commission where we received an Excellent rating for the quality of our services and an Excellent rating for use of resources. This was an improvement on the previous year's position of Excellent for services and Good for use of resources.

We're also delighted that all four acute inpatient wards in Newham that were externally assessed as part of the Royal College of Psychiatrists' standards for Acute Inpatient Mental Health Services [AIMS] were rated as 'excellent'.

One of the important highlights of 2008/09 was the launch of *Florid*, a user led and run website which was supported by the Trust and launched in January 2009. The website provides a comprehensive directory of statutory and voluntary services in East London in addition to other resources for service users, parents and carers which include a moderated blog/chat room where information and ideas can be exchanged. Professionals are invited to join the blog as guest speakers. This exciting and innovative development has been led by the Trust's public participation programme and also provides paid employment and training opportunities for service users.

During the past year I have been particularly pleased with the very positive contribution made by of our Members Council, with its 45 highly committed Council Members. I am also pleased that we have continued to expand our membership and have achieved our target goal of having 8000 Members by the end of March 2009. Our membership is also broadly representative of the highly diverse populations we serve.

Over the past six months, we have also been working closely with our Members Council, the wider membership and our service user groups on the development of the 2009/10 Annual Plan and our priorities for the year ahead.

Our Annual General Meeting held on 11 September 2008 was well attended and this is an indication of the continued interest from our local communities and the support of our membership. There was also an Annual Members meeting, part of which was led by council members and used as an opportunity to engage Members in the process of setting of defining the main priorities for the 2009/10 Annual Plan.

Over the past year, we have been working closely with our PCT and Local Authority partners to develop new services and enhance our existing services within the strategy frameworks of the local healthcare community.

We also made significant changes to the way our Human Resources [HR] function was arranged and this has resulted in further HR management and recruitment support being deployed within our five Directorate Management Teams.

We have had a busy year in terms of services, developing 42 new or enhanced services such as a new Alcohol Service in City & Hackney, a new Dual Diagnosis Service in Tower Hamlets and a new Perinatal service in Newham, and a new low secure development in our Forensic service. The Trust has also started work on the development of the following service strategies: young people's, older adult and non-verbal therapies. However, we need to make more progress on these areas in 2009/10. We also managed to achieve or partially achieve 68 of the 72 key targets in 2008/09 with the four remaining being delayed due to internal or external factors.

In keeping with our vision statement, we have this year entered into a number of new strategic partnerships with voluntary sector organisations. This strategy has led to a successful joint bid with Look Ahead for a new Crisis House and Rehabilitation Home in Tower Hamlets.

In addition to the above, infection control and standards of cleanliness in inpatient areas across the Trust have been subject to continued improvement and audit within our healthcare governance processes. The Trust had an unannounced visit by the Healthcare Commission in January 2009 with respect to the Hygiene Code. The Trust was assessed compliant against its three main duties under the hygiene code, and to date, this places the Trust as one of the top performing Trusts in the country.

The Trust Board, our members and service users are in complete agreement over the need to measurably improve the quality of our services. This strong sense of common purpose has resulted in this issue remaining at the top of our priorities for 2009/10.

For further information on the Trust's performance against the 2008/09 Annual Plan priorities and Monitor, Healthcare Commission and other targets, refer to section 1.2.

#### 1.2 Performance Overview

# **1.2.1 Summary**

In 2008/09, we have continued to make good progress in meeting the key national and local targets within the annual health check framework. The Healthcare Commission will report on our 2008/09 ratings in October 2009.

Continued progress has been made around addressing increased demand for inpatient services. Fluctuating demand for inpatient beds has, on occasions, been very difficult to manage for local services but through effective Trust-wide bed management, we have been able to accommodate all admissions within local inpatient services, without recourse to inappropriate and expensive out of area placements. The latest information would indicate that the overall occupancy levels have decreased during 2008/09 to meet our 95% occupancy target but we will still need to manage this situation very closely in 2009/10.

# Progress on Delivering the 2008/09 Annual Plan Priorities

During the year, we have made significant achievements in the following seven priority areas to:

# • Improve the quality of adult inpatient care services

- Royal College of Psychiatrist's Accreditation for Acute Inpatient Mental Health Services [AIMS] rated all four of the four wards assessed as Excellent - the highest rating. The remaining eight wards will be rated in 2009.
- Improvements on the five key areas of our inpatient improvement plan, in response to the Healthcare Commission's acute inpatient review.
- Good progress on compliance with the Department of Health Medium Secure Benchmarking standards, i.e.: 164 standards are green, 30 are amber and five are red. An action plan is in place to improve the red and amber areas.

# • Improvement in the quality of community care services

- Significant progress in implementation of the community services review action plan.
- Regular audits and monitoring of the implementation of key community standards.
- An extensive review of community services for adults of working age was undertaken. The implementation phase started in May 2009 and the new model for services will strengthen clinical leadership and will improve response times and outcomes for service users and carers.

# • Ensure that we have a high quality workforce that is locally representative

- Significant progress in reducing vacancy levels from 20% in 2007/08 to the current level of 7.6%. This figure continues on a positive trend having been at 10.1% in January 2009.

- Retention of a highly skilled and motivated workforce has also been supported by the implementation of new workforce strategies for nurses and administrative staff, which have introduced significant new career development opportunities for these important staff groups.
- Successful implementation of a new system of appraisal and personal development plans [PDPs] with all staff now having objectives linked to Trust priorities. This has increased from 18% at the beginning of the year to 92% at the end of March 2009.

# Improve premises for both service users and staff to provide modern and fit for purpose environments

- Significant progress was made in upgrading and securing new fit for purpose community and inpatient premises. Developments have included the opening of a new forensic low secure inpatient ward and five new or refurbished community premises across the Trust.
- Good progress has been made on the development of the Outline Business Case [OBC] for the re-provision of the services currently provided at the City & Hackney Centre for Mental Health.

# Improve older adult services

- Good progress on the development of a Trust-wide Older Adult Service Strategy with the aim of improving community and inpatient services and making the best use of available resources. This strategy is being developed into draft borough level implementation plans for discussion with our PCTs.
- Preparation for the Royal College of Psychiatrist's AIMS assessment of the six older adult wards across the Trust

# Implementation of Homicide and other serious untoward incident recommendations

- Developed and implemented action plans arising from agreed Homicide and SUI inquiries including those of the independent panel which were received in 2008.
- Improved management of SUIs and significantly reduced number of outstanding SUIs.
- Implemented the recommendations of the external review into the Trust's SUI policy and procedures.

# • Development and implementation of outcome measures and standards

- Significant progress in the introduction of a range of community and inpatient key performance indicators and standards, and outcome measures across the full range of our services during the past year, e.g. the AIMS accreditation process for inpatient care as already described. In addition, the Trust introduced outcome measures developed by the CAMHS Outcome Research Consortium [CORC] for children and young people, Health of The Nation Outcome Scales [HONOS] for adolescent, adult, older adult and forensic services and the Treatment Outcome Profile [TOP] for specialist addiction services.
- Introduction of a clinical dataset and dashboard for use by the Clinical Directors.

- Introduction of a new set of service user defined inpatient standards which are audited by service users and reported to the Trust Board on a quarterly basis.
- Outcome measures have been chosen for psychological therapies and relate to the four domains of Health and Wellbeing; Choice and Access; Social Inclusion and Service User Experience. Further work remains to be done in agreeing specific measures and data collection will begin in 2009/10.

# 1.2.2 Performance against national and Healthcare Commission targets

The national targets are either included within the Annual Health Check assessment or the PCT Local Delivery Plan detailed below.

# a) Annual Health Check Declaration 2007/08

Annual Health Check Results – Quality of Services

In 2007/08 the Healthcare Commission assessed the Trust's quality of services as 'Excellent'. This assessment consists of three components:

- a) The Trust 'fully met' compliance with the core standards;
- b) The Trust 'fully met' compliance with **existing national targets** which measure crisis resolution team implementation; and
- c) The Trust received a performance score of 'Excellent' in meeting **new national targets** to improve the health of the population.

This covers areas such as experience of patients, increasing the proportion of users successfully sustaining or completing drug treatment programmes, suicide prevention, infection control and community mental health team integration.

Annual Health Check Results – Use of Resources

The Trust was awarded an Excellent rating for use of resources. This is an improvement from the 2006/07 Good rating.

#### b) 2008 National Service User Survey

The Trust's scores in 2008 in relation to overall care were similar to scores awarded to other Trusts with Mental Health Services. Since 2007 the Trust has improved results on recent contact rates with health professionals and psychiatrists and scored better than average in this area. The Trust also scored higher than average in providing information on Mental Health problems to service users and supporting family and carers. The results show that the Trust has managed to maintain and build on the excellent progress that was made in 2007. The issues for action/improvement areas highlighted by the 2008 Survey were:

- Improvement in quality of community care services
- Improve customer care across the organisation
- Increase service user participation and involvement in evaluation of services
- Continue to develop culturally competent services
- Better information including to families and carers (including information on medication

- CPA care plans and reviews
- Employment
- Out of hours support including an out of hours phone number.

The Trust is committed to improving service user experience through responding to feedback and addressing identified areas for improvement. The above areas have been built in to the 2009/10 Annual Plan priorities and these will be monitored on a quarterly basis by the Trust's Service Delivery Board to ensure the action plan is implemented.

The 2009 National Service User Survey will cover inpatients only, however, the Trust has separately commissioned a new community survey to continue to monitor and improve results in this area.

# c) 2007 Quality of Working Lives Staff Survey

In relation to the Healthcare Commission's results for 2007 the results of the Staff Survey were disappointing and could in part, be a reflection of the high levels of organisational change which were required at the time as the Trust achieved financial recovery and service improvement. Irrespective of this, the Trust will work hard on improving the areas where we need to make significant improvements. On comparing this Trust's performance with other mental health Trusts in England, the following areas are those in which the Trust did not perform as well as other Trusts:

- % of staff appraised in last 12 months
- % of staff having received health and safety training in the last 12 months
- % of staff suffering work-related stress in last 12 months

Whilst the report was disappointing, the report overall presents a mixed picture which includes some progress. This includes the response rate which has improved from last year although we are still in the lowest 20% of mental health trusts. In response to the report, the Trust has been implementing an action plan to address the identified areas for improvement.

The 2008 staff survey results have recently been received by the Trust and this survey shows improvement in most areas. A more detailed report will be reviewed by the Trust board.

#### d) National and PCT Vital Signs Targets

This section summarises the Trust's current performance on key national performance measures. Definitions for some indicators are still to be confirmed, but the overall picture is positive with the Trust complying with all the national targets.

**Table 1: National Indicators** 

	NATIONAL INDICATORS			
Indicator	Target (Trust wide)	2007/8	2008/9	
National Targets Applicable to Mental Hea	alth Trusts for 2008/9			
Annual number of MRSA bloodstream infections reported	0 Cases	N/A	0 cases	
Reduction in C. Diff	0 Cases	N/A	0 cases	
Enhanced CPA inpatient discharges followed up within 7 days (face to face and telephone)	95%	99.4%	99.5%	

	NATIONAL INDICATORS			
Indicator	Target (Trust wide)	2007/8	2008/9	
Patients occupying beds with delayed transfer of care *	7.5%	N/A	3.8%	
Admissions made via Crisis Resolution Teams	90%	N/A	98.3%	
Number of Crisis Resolution Teams	7.1	7.3	7.3	
Integration of Older Peoples Community Mental Health Teams	100% 100.0%		100%	
Completeness of Ethnicity Coding – Inpatient in MHMDS **	95%	97.1%	98.5%	
Completeness of Mental Health Minimum data set (Benchmarked - 90% local target) **	90%	90.4%	95.5%	
CPA Patients with recorded Care Coordinator ***	Nationally benchmarked	Target not applicable this year	81%	
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services - patients aged 16 or 17, on adult wards (bed days, year to date)	Notified to Mental Health Act Commission	0	45	
Membership	8,000	7,098	8,036	

<sup>\*</sup> Figure is a provisional local calculation based on the recently published National definition which uses Quarter 1 data only.

As demonstrated in Table 1 above, all key national targets, as set by the Healthcare Commission and Monitor, have been achieved or exceeded, in particular:

- Delayed transfers of Care have reduced steadily during the year with just 15 (2.5%) delayed patients at year end (35 in April 2008). Bed days lost represented 4.2% of occupied bed days.
- Enhanced/New CPA discharges from inpatient services were rigorously followed up within seven days a rate of 99.5% was achieved against the target of 95%
- Data quality and capture of ethnic codes for service users as measured by the national Mental Health Minimum Data Set – continue to show improvement with performance exceeding targets.
- Trust Membership recruitment targets were also met.

Table 2: Trust Targets 2008/09

Trust Performance Targets 2008/09	Target for 2008/09	Performance in 2008/09	Comment
Adult Inpatient Readmission rate	8.3%	5.6%	Achieved - Local target set as expected to contribute to Annual Assessment under
Older Adult Inpatient Readmission rate	3.2%	2.5%	"Patterns of Care and Outcomes" theme

<sup>\*\*</sup> Quarter 3 MHMDS data. Quarter 4 data is not available until July 2009

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Provisional based on Quarter 1 local data only. Final figures are calculated externally as part of annual assessment and achievement thresholds are not yet known.

Trust Performance Targets 2008/09	Target for 2008/09	Performance in 2008/09	Comment
Adult Services Bed Occupancy Rate – for year to date	95%	95%	Achieved
Number of people waiting more than 4 hours in A&E before admission, transfer or discharge	98%	98%	Achieved
Response to Complaints within 25 days	75%	80%	Achieved
Enhanced CPA inpatient discharges followed up within 7 days (by face to face contact)	80%	94%	Achieved
Information Governance - compliance with national standards	85%	87%	Achieved
Data Quality – NHS Number completion for current Inpatients	95%	95%	Achieved
Data Quality – NHS Number completion for Community	95%	97%	Achieved
Data Quality – Primary Diagnosis Code completion for Inpatients	95%	97%	Achieved

Table 2 above shows performance against a range of local Trust targets set for 2008/9. Main highlights are:

- 95% target for overall adult services bed occupancy rates achieved
- Complaints response time targets were met
- Achievement of key Information Governance compliance and data quality targets.
- Local targets met on follow-up of Enhanced/New CPA discharges by face to face contacts.

**Table 3: PCT and Trust Partnership Targets** 

Partner Performance Indicator	Target for 2008/09	Performance in 2008/09	Comment
Commissioning a comprehensive Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service. Coverage and compliance assessed by four measures that are graded at level 1-4	Level 4 for each indicator	All four measures achieved Level 4, full compliance	Achieved
Commissioning Crisis Resolution/Home Treatment services – episodes	2,280	2,346	Achieved
Commissioning Early Intervention in Psychosis Services: -  • Caseload • New referrals for first episode psychosis	509 176	569 243	Achieved Achieved
Drug Misusers retained in Treatment for 12 weeks	85%-86%	96%	Achieved
Drug Misusers in treatment	678	710	Achieved Trust-wide (slightly below target in City and Hackney and Tower Hamlets)

Table 3 demonstrates that all of key national partnership targets for 2008/9 were met.

# e) Performance against PCT Contracts

Table 4: Annual Plan 2008/09 Activity Summary

ANNUAL PLAN 2008/09 ACTIVITY SUMMARY		2008/9	
SERVICE SUMMARY		Actual	
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	29,800	30,887	
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	15	15	
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	4,654	4,852	
Adult Services (Excl Forensic PD and Med Secure)			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	290,490	303,500	
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	288	302	
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	99,070	100,900	
Adult Services - Forensic Med Secure and Personality Disorder			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	4,755	4,830	
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March Excl Tarriro House and Baxter Rd)	167	180	
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	61,046	67,228	
Older Adult Services			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	42,603	42,754	
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	152	145	
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	49,933	44,923	
Total CAMHS/Adult/Older Adult			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	367,648	381,971	
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	622	642	
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	214,703	217,903	
Addictions Services			
Number of Drug misusers in treatment	798	810	
Percentage of drug users retained in treatment for 12 weeks or more	85-86%	95%	

# f) Commentary on significant 2008/09 variances from target

# **Inpatient Activity**

Total bed numbers at the close of 2008/9 were 642, some 20 higher than originally planned (622). The changes in inpatient capacity were due to:

- Retention or creation of 14 Adult inpatient beds to meet increased demands, seven via conversion of smoking rooms and seven new female beds in Hackney (Gardner Ward)
- The opening of 13 new Forensic Low Secure beds (Colin Franklin Ward)
- The above is offset by a net reduction in Older Adult Services beds.

#### **Community Activity**

For 2008/9 the number of recorded community contacts with service users is just under 382,000, some 4% above the original target. This is mainly due to better capture of activity in Adult Services on the Trust's central RiO IT system.

The RiO system has bedded in well since it was installed as a Patient Administration System in July 2007 and then extended to Community Services for Adult, Older Adult and Forensic services in January 2008. During 2008/9 considerable work was undertaken to roll the system out to further teams and individual practitioners. The system is sufficiently established to provide the basis for full clinical deployment - the design stages of which are planned to start in Quarter 4 2009/10.

#### 1.2.3 Foundation Trust 3-year contracts

The Trust has 3-year legally binding contracts with each of the three East London PCTs for local mental health services and one contract with the seven North East London PCTs for Forensic services and the CAMHS Tier 4 inpatient unit. These contracts commenced on November 1<sup>st</sup> 2007, on a 3-year rolling contract basis from April 2007. In relation to these contracts, the Trust has complied with all of its key contractual requirements for 2008/09.

#### 1.2.4 Monitor's Quarterly Monitoring Arrangements

Throughout the year, Monitor has assessed the Trust as being: Financial risk rating 3; Governance risk ratings: Green; and, Mandatory services risk rating: Green.

#### 1.2.5 External Review of Serious Untoward Incident [SUI] Policy

An external review of the Trust's SUI policy and procedures was undertaken in 2008 and the Inquiry's report and recommendations were presented to the Trust Board and sent in 2008. In response to this review the Trust has further strengthened its SUI procedures, management of SUIs reviews within agreed timescales and learning from these incidents. The final action plan was also reviewed at a Trust Board development event in March 2009.

# 1.3 Summary of Financial Performance

### 1.3.1 Overview

The Trust achieved an operating surplus below plan, resulting in an overall risk rating of 3 (compared with a plan of 4). This was due primarily to decisions to spend some of the Trust's cash on one off initiatives to speed up its service strategies; this included investment in recruitment, restructuring and pre-recruitment and set up costs for new services. The net surplus shortfall (compared with plan) was significantly lower than the operating surplus shortfall (compared with plan) due to significant sums received from interest received from investment of in year cash. Liquidity was high throughout the year with £47.2m held as at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2009.

The draft accounts were submitted on 23 April 2009. A number of changes have been agreed with the external auditors subsequently, including the revaluation of fixed assets as a result of the downturn in the property market. These changes have been incorporated in the tables below. The figures for 2008/09 are pre-audit. No significant changes are expected following final audit sign-off.

#### 1.3.2 Income and Expenditure – EBITDA and Net Surpluses 2008/9

These, compared with plan were:

Table 5: EBITDA and Risk Rating

	Achieved		Plan	
	£m %		£m	%
EBITDA	8.2	4.4	12.1	6.6
Net Surplus	2.7 2.6		5.5	2.9

Table 6: Income and spend, and the composition of the surpluses

INCOME	2008/9 plan £m	2008/9 actual £m
Mandatory		
Block Contracts	165.5	166.3
Non Contract	2.7	3.6
Non Mandatory		
Other Income		
Research	8.0	0.9
Education and Training	5.6	5.6
Other Income	7.1	8.3
TOTAL INCOME (excl. interest)	181.7	184.7
SPEND		
Pay	125.7	125.9
Non Pay	45.6	50.6
TOTAL SPEND	171.3	176.5
EBITDA	10.4	8.2
Impairments	-	(2.1)
Depreciation	(2.7)	(2.2)
PDC Dividend	(3.7)	(3.8)
Interest Receivable	1.5	2.6
NET SURPLUS	5.5	2.7

# 1.3.6 Performance Compared With Plan

**The reduction in EBITDA surplus**, compared with plan, is due to one off investment in initiatives to speed up implementation of key service initiatives, as outlined above. These initiatives were funded from surplus cash.

The decrease in the net surplus, compared with plan, is due to the above factors offset partially by increased interest receivable (above plan) from in-year cash management and the impact of the impairment as a result of the revaluation exercise to reflect the downturn in property prices.

**High levels of liquidity were maintained** through working capital control, and despite a capital programme of £15m. Cash balance at the end of the year of £47.2m

**Capital spend** was £15m compared with plan of £10.9m. Increased spend was primarily due to purchase of a new site to increase capacity for new surplus generating initiatives and bring forward some of 2009/10 schemes.

#### 1.3.7 Use of Accumulated Surpluses

The accumulated liquidity will fund service initiatives within the service plan. This will include financing of £20m for the 3-year capital programme, funding (where required) of set up costs for new developments, restructuring, and double running costs where new services replace existing services.

# 1.3.8 Performance Against Foundation Trust Metrics

**Table 7: Overall Rating** 

	£m	%	Rating
Plan Achievement (%)	n/a	78.7	3
EBITDA margin	8.2	4.4	2
Asset Return (%)	n/a	6.5	5
Net Surplus	2.7	2.6	4
Liquidity (days)	n/a	99.9	5
OVERALL RATING			3

#### 1.3.9 Conclusion

The Trust used its cash reserves to speed up its service strategy by investing in one off revenue initiatives and capital, recognising that this would reduce its overall risk rating. This was funded by continued high levels of liquidity, and was a sensible use of such liquidity. Adequate surpluses were generated despite this investment.

# 1.4 Other major issues

There were the following changes to the Members Council in 2009/10:

- Professor Watts resigned from his post as City University's Members Council representative on 27th May 2008.
- Patrick Ryan replaced Joseph De Lappe as the Tower Hamlets public member, from 1st July 2008.
- Jeremy Burden, a nominated member from Tower Hamlets PCT, resigned from his post as of 22<sup>nd</sup> January 2009.
- Patricia Justice (Tower Hamlets) died in February. Her position is yet to be filled.
- Jennifer Edie resigned from her post as City University's Members Council representative on 8<sup>th</sup> March 2009.

The Trust did not vary mandatory service provision or dispose of assets contrary to the terms of authorisation. The Trust acquired a property in Hackney and since this will be critical to the delivery of its services, this asset will be protected, in line with Monitor's requirements.

The Audit Commission continued to be the Trust's external auditors in 2008/09.

#### 2. FUTURE BUSINESS PLANS

#### 2.1 Overall Vision

The Trust's vision is: To provide high quality mental health care to our local communities. We will do this in partnership with services users, their carers and families and statutory and voluntary organisations. The Trust's core values are at the heart of our vision for the future development of our services. These will underpin everything we do and include:

- Putting the service user and carer at the centre of everything we do
- Ensure wider choice and promote independence
- Provide safe, effective and value for money services
- Ensure equality and value diversity
- Recognise the contribution of our staff and provide a capable workforce
- · Promote social inclusion and recovery.

#### 2.1.1 Strategic objectives

To deliver this vision, we will build on the strong clinical and managerial expertise of our staff, our excellent track record of managing our finances and further strengthen service user and carer participation. We will also continue to build relationships with existing partners and develop new partners to make best use of our joint resources. We also aim to develop and expand in areas where we have a strong and established track record of delivering high quality and responsive services.

The Trust's strategic objectives for the next 1-3 years are detailed below:

- Ensure the meaningful participation of service users, their carers and families in the shaping, delivery and evaluation of their care and the future direction of our services
- Improve the quality of our community and inpatient services
- Develop a highly skilled, motivated and culturally capable workforce
- Maximise learning opportunities for all staff, provide high quality teaching and training, and remain a centre of excellence for research
- Make the best use of our resources, increase surpluses, improve performance and develop the quality of information and IT systems
- Develop existing and new partnerships to promote social inclusion for all our service users
- Seek new business opportunities consistent with our vision.

#### 2.1.2 Formation and Development Process

The 2009/10 Annual Plan is consistent with the Trust's vision and second year of the 5-year service development strategy, included within the Trust's IBP. The IBP was widely consulted on internally with senior clinicians and managers and externally with a range of stakeholders. The 2009/10 Annual Plan also builds on the quality and service improvements achieved in 2008/09 and is consistent with London and the East London

PCTs' overall strategies and commissioning plans. The Trust is also working closely with the PCTs to develop its older adult strategy. In 2009/10, two of the PCTs have also invested additional funding for the development of new and existing services in line with their commissioning intentions and strategies. For further information refer to the service development plans (section 2.2.4).

To develop the 2009/10 Annual Plan, the Trust Board of Directors has held several events challenging the priorities and investment strategy within the plan as well as reviewing the original Year 2 IBP proposals and the additional service proposals and investments from East London PCTs. The Trust Board held seminars in March and May 2009 to discuss priorities and also formally reviewed the draft and final copies of the Annual Plan at its public meetings prior to submission to Monitor.

During the latter part of 2009, the Chief Executive held seminars with senior clinicians and managers within each of the five Directorates and these were supplemented by the Directorate meetings with Executive Team members and the Clinical Directors, Borough/Service Directors and Performance Managers. This process has challenged assumptions within the plan and agreed delivery dates for service developments.

The Trust's Service Delivery Board has reviewed and had input into the development of the Annual Plan. In addition, the Medical Director has reviewed elements of the plan with the Trust's Clinical Directors group.

Regular updates have been posted on the staff intranet and in *Trusttalk* (Trust-wide staff magazine) and within the 2-way briefing communication (a monthly notification to all staff and used by team leaders to facilitate team and 1-1 communication). In addition, service users have reviewed and/or given feedback on the plan in a variety of settings, including through the Trust-wide Working Together Group.

The 2009/10 Annual Plan has been reviewed by the Members Council at several meetings and development events from September 2008 – March 2009 and they have made a significant contribution to the final content and priorities contained within it. The Members Council were also given an opportunity to give feedback in April 2009 on a draft of the full plan.

The Members Council were in support of the majority of service initiatives outlined in the service development plan but also suggested further areas for improvement, review and/or development. The wider membership also made suggestions at an evening event in March 2009 which was attended by over 80 members and Members Council members. The key suggestions have informed the development of the 2009/10 Annual Plan and the service initiatives proposed.

# 2.2 Strategic overview

# 2.2.1 National and Local Challenges

The Trust's 5-year service plan is detailed in the Integrated Business Plan and as part the development of the 2<sup>nd</sup> year of the plan; the Trust Board had undertaken an analysis of the political, economic, social and technical context for the next 1-3 years. A summary is attached (refer to Appendix 1).

This analysis has been updated to take into account the changing operating and future economic environment and the key factors impacting on the 2009/10 Annual Plan. These factors and their mitigation actions are detailed overleaf.

# Impact of the Economic Situation and Department of Health [DH] Central Allocations, National Pay Awards, NHS London and Local Health Economy Financial Position

The Trust is anticipating significant changes to its operating and economic environment over the short and medium terms, as the difficulties facing the national economy feed through into public sector funding and the local health care economy.

The Trust still remains subject to potential reductions in DH central allocations, e.g. DSPD allocations, and also indirectly as any reductions in PCT allocations will adversely effect the commissioning and contract environment. Pay awards above levels assumed in the financial plan now appear less likely.

In 2009/10, NHS London's financial position has been significantly affected by the changes in: i) the baseline allocation formula which has caused East London PCTs to be over target and therefore they will need to reduce expenditure over the next 3 years to be within target; ii) financial implications of the overall Acute Hospital HRG4 tariff and, iii) the need to bring expenditure back into balance across London through top-slicing PCTs to transfer investment to areas of overspending. This has had an adverse financial impact on the East London PCTs and has significantly reduced their ability to increase their investment in mental health for 2009/10; however, City & Hackney and Tower Hamlets PCTs are still able to make some investment in mental health but for future years growth is unlikely.

The Trust remains committed to working in partnership and the proposals on polyclinics and shared premises provides potential opportunities for the Trust to rationalise its estate through being more integrated with primary care and sharing premises.

Overall, the Trust is anticipating a challenging environment ahead in the short and medium terms and will respond by placing a high priority on organisational sustainability and the generation of surpluses. The Trust will also seek to take advantage of any future opportunities arising from significant service change, driven by efficiency and service improvement and further develop 3<sup>rd</sup> sector partnerships.

# Payment by results

In preparation for payment by results in 2010/11, the Trust is participating in the London Mental Health Trust pilot on service line reporting and is also implementing trading accounts and service line reporting.

#### 18 Week Referral to Treatment

18 week referral to treatment is likely to affect Mental Health Trusts by the end of March 2010. This will primarily affect psychological therapies and the Trust will be a London pilot to amend the current national guidance for mental health trusts. In preparation for this the Trust is developing robust systems to monitor wait times, reduce did not attends [DNAs] and is developing Trust-wide access and 18 week referral to treatment policies.

#### World Class Commissioning, Contracts and Patient-led NHS and Service User Choice

In East London, the development of world class commissioning and of commissioning capabilities within local PCTs continues and is likely to impact on the local health economy through more sophisticated commissioning and increased tendering of services. In addition, plurality, contestability and diversity of providers has begun to affect the Trust's preferred provider status locally as predicted in last year's annual plan. This has resulted in some

competition from other NHS Trusts, the 3<sup>rd</sup> sector, independent sector as well as Practice Based Commissioning [PBC] and primary care provider arrangements.

The Trust's market assessment and discussions with local PCTs indicates that this will continue although risks are likely to be accompanied by opportunities to access new markets.

The Trust's mitigation plan to address this potential competition over the next 1-3 years will be to continue to develop closer working relationships with the 3<sup>rd</sup> sector and, where appropriate, develop joint or linked service provision. The Trust has already started to achieve good progress with this approach during 2008/09, with joint bids leading to the acquisition of new business in competitive tendering processes.

The Trust intends to work more closely with the 13 Practice Based Commissioning Consortia [PBCs] covering East London.

Although the levels of choice currently offered for people with physical healthcare problems are not currently proposed for mental health service users, the impact of commissioning a Patient-led NHS, will provide more choice of community services through a range of providers. The choice agenda is also being pursued through the development of personal budgets within social care and this is likely to increase competition.

The Trust positively embraces this move to greater choice and control for service users which sits very comfortably with the stated core values of the organisation. The Trust will continue to develop closer partnership working with service users to ensure improved satisfaction and responsiveness. The Trust has also recently implemented the use of voluntary Advance Directives for service users as part of this new agenda.

#### **Population and Demand Changes**

The significant population increases in Newham and Tower Hamlets over the next 5 years have, until recently, only had a minimal impact on the Trust's services. However, there are signs that the increase in population may be beginning to affect demand for Trust services. The Trust will be closely monitoring this situation during 2009/10 and will work closely with its partner East London PCTs.

The links between socio-economic factors and mental health problems in the general population are well documented. The current national economic picture and rising unemployment may well translate into increased demand for the Trust's services over the medium term.

In mitigation, the Trust is monitoring new demand on all of its services and is working with the East London PCTs to scope the impact of this on 2009/10 contract volumes and targets.

#### Market context and competition

The market context and competition is not anticipated to change markedly during 2009/10 although, as already described, the wider economic context may yield both threats and opportunities as public sector financing becomes affected.

The key elements of the current market context and competition are as follows:

- The Trust continues to be the main provider of specialist and secondary mental health and substance misuse services in the City of London, Hackney, Newham and Tower Hamlets. It is also the main provider of forensic services to North East London.
- East London will remain the key market therefore the Trust will be working closely
  with local Primary Care Trusts [PCTs] and Local Authorities [LAs] to ensure that
  we deliver high quality and responsive services and retain and grow our current
  market share. This will involve exploiting partnership arrangements and Joint
  Ventures to ensure that we provide excellent services through collaboration with
  others, e.g. primary care and the 3<sup>rd</sup> Sector.
- The Trust has developed expertise and a track record of providing high quality services and therefore is ideally placed to market our services to East London, North East London sector and to new markets.
- We already compare favourably with most London Mental Health Trusts and the key Private, Independent and 3<sup>rd</sup> Sector providers on quality and price. The Trust will continue to improve upon this position and become even more competitive through implementation of service improvement plans and measures to improve the quality of our services, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Trust has secured its market share during 2008/09 having attracted additional investment from East London and North East London PCTs for its local and forensic services.

In relation to this competitive environment, the Trust has reviewed the Principles and Rules on Cooperation and Competition and is currently compliant with this guidance and will ensure that it remains compliant during 2009/10.

#### **Quality Account reporting**

The Trust's quality and improvement plan has built upon the achievements made in 2008/09, as outlined in the 2008/09 Annual Report. The Trust has also complied with the Quality Account reporting requirements, issued in April 2009. For further information on the Trust's quality agenda refer to section 2.2.2.

The Trust has submitted the 2008/09 Annual Health Check Declaration in Quarter 1 of 2009/10 and has declared compliance with core standards. In addition, the Trust has recently registered with the Care Quality Commission with a registration classification of unconditional.

# 2.2.2 Quality

The Trust has set out ten priorities (refer to section 2.2.4) of which six focus on quality improvement and two support this improvement. The rationale for these quality improvement targets is set out below along with proposed means for measuring them during the year. Performance against targets will be reported to the Board quarterly through the performance report.

#### Improving Quality (Clinical Effectiveness and Patient Experience) and Safety

#### Priority One: Older adult services

The Trust had not carried out a major review of older adult services since its inception in 2000. The services provided in each borough are mainly bed-based, and varied considerably

across the boroughs. In 2008 the government identified dementia services as a priority and the Department of Health started to develop a national strategy. The Trust Board therefore agreed to develop a strategy, in conjunction with local Primary Care Trusts, in order to improve the quality of services provided for older people.

The Trust does not currently have an Older Adults survey but will establish one during the year; this will enable measuring improvement in Older Adult Services.

# Priority Two: Inpatient services

The quality of the Trust's adult inpatient services is of major importance to service users and their carers. In 2007 the Healthcare Commission carried out a review of the Trust's acute inpatient mental health services, assessing whether admissions were appropriate, purposeful, therapeutic and safe. The review identified a range of issues where the care provided was not consistent across the Trust. The Trust Board therefore agreed to focus on this area and receives regular audits on performance.

The Trust aims to achieve at least 95% compliance on all five standards as shown in Table 8.

**Table 8: Healthcare Commission Inpatient Standards** 

Standard:	Performance as at June 2007	Performance as at March 2009	Target Performance 2009/10
All service users on admission receive a physical health check and the outcome recorded	54%	87%	95%
All services will hold a multi-disciplinary team meeting within 7 days of admission to discuss the care of the service user and this will be recorded	56%	82%	95%
3. The community care coordinator for service users known to the service will attend and provide input into the first multi-disciplinary team meeting and their attendance will be recorded	N/A*	62%	95%
4. Within the first 7 days of admission, formal 1:1 sessions to discuss the nursing care plan with nursing staff must be recorded at least once per day and thereafter weekly	2%	37%	95%
5. Service users' views on their inpatient care plans will be recorded as part of the 1:1 Sessions and following the first reviews.	42%	62%	95%

<sup>\*</sup> The Standard agreed within the Trust was different from that used by the Healthcare Commission and so a comparison could not take place.

# Priority Three: Adult Community services

The Trust receives feedback on the quality of its adult community services through the National Patient Survey. The survey has identified that there are several areas for improvement regarding the quality of community services, including the use of the Care Programme Approach.

In view of this the Trust will focus on the following areas:

- At least 95% of assessments undertaken and care plans to be in place within 28 days.
- At least 95% compliance with CPA requirements.
- Introduction of service user community surveys.

These areas will be monitored during 2009/10 and quarterly reports will be submitted to the Trust Board.

# Priority Four: Physical Healthcare

This priority has been identified by our members and Members' Council. The Trust was aware that from the Health Care Commission review of our inpatient services in 2007 we were not carrying out physical healthcare checks regularly upon admission. The Trust has recognised the importance of a holistic approach to mental and physical healthcare.

**Table 9: Physical Healthcare Standard** 

Standard:	Performance as at June 2007	Performance as at March 2009	Target Performance 2009/10
All service users on admission receive a physical health check and the outcome recorded	54%	87%	95%

Further measures will be agreed once the Trust-wide Physical Healthcare and local inpatient implementation plans are in place.

#### Priority Five: Carers services

This priority has been identified by our members and members' council. Through our surveys and performance reporting we are aware that service across the Trust has not been consistent.

The Trust will develop a Carers Plan and will aim to increase the numbers of carers having an assessment by 30%. Baseline figures will be confirmed in Quarter 1. The Trust does not currently undertake formal carers' surveys but will establish a survey this year. Feedback from this survey will help the Trust to improve its services to carers.

# Priority Six: Learning from Incidents, SUIs, Homicides and Serious Case Reviews [SCRs]

Providing safe services is of great importance to the Trust as is the need to learn lessons from incidents in order to reduce the possibility of recurrence.

The Trust aims to keep the number of SUI reports with outstanding recommendations to a minimum. SUI reports on outstanding action plans will be submitted quarterly to the SUI subcommittee and areas of concern will be escalated to the Trust Board.

The results of the 2008/09 staff survey have highlighted to the Trust that there are relatively high incidents of violent and aggressive behaviour in inpatient services.

The Trust aims to have 90% of frontline inpatient staff trained in prevention and management of violence and aggression.

The 2009/10 Commissioning for Quality and Innovation [CQUIN] payments will be made to the Trust by the East London PCTs on production of data sets, as outlined in the contract KPI schedule. In relation to the specialist commissioner's contract, these payments will be included within their monthly payments, once an improvement plan has been agreed.

# 2.2.3 Key actions

# 2.2.3.1 Service Strategy

Within the framework of the 5-year service strategy, the 2009/10 Annual Plan aims to ensure continuous and sustained service improvement in all areas and will develop more community based services that promote independence, choice and recovery. It will also create clear community and inpatient pathways and will result in further modernisation of our inpatient services which will include expansion of forensic capacity.

We will work with statutory and non-statutory partners to address social inclusion and health inequalities, improve health and well-being. We will also develop more responsive services to primary care and work alongside GPs to deliver improved care pathways between primary care and secondary mental health services.

The service developments over the next 3 years, based on the need to respond to national and local challenges (see section 2.2.1), will focus on:

- Improving services and support to GPs and Primary Health Care Teams
- Developing high quality community services which promote independence and recovery as well as more choice for service users
- Increasing access for service users to employment, education & training opportunities, physical healthcare services and ensure that we provide culturally appropriate services
- Improve our inpatient services so that service users can access the best type of service at the right time
- Expanding the capacity of our forensic services to provide further business opportunities
- Provide modern and fit for purpose environments and buildings for both service users and staff
- Ensure that there are good information systems so that clinicians and service users can access the right information at the right time.

During our first full year of Foundation Trust status we made good progress in addressing the above areas and this has provided an excellent foundation for taking forward the 2009/10 Annual Plan, and the second year of the IBP. Over the next two years, the Trust will continue to be competitive in terms of quality and cost, and will:

- Deliver our 5-year service improvement and development plan, with a full review at the end of year 3
- Improve the quality of the Trust's services, through implementation of its Annual Health Check action plans to maintain Excellent ratings for Quality of Services and Use of Resources in 2009/10

- Continue to sustain robust Trust-wide financial management and increase surpluses so that performance against financial ratios is returned to a risk rating of 4
- Meet national, PCT and Trust Mental Health Key Performance Indicators and Targets, including the 18-week target for psychological therapies
- Continue our good progress towards becoming the Mental Health Provider of Choice and the Mental Health Employer of Choice for East London.

# 2.2.3.2 Competition and marketing proposals

As outlined earlier in the market context and competition section (2.2.1), the Trust intends to build on the 2008/09 service initiatives and has developed business case proposals to expand its forensic capacity and into new markets such as the secure inpatient services for people with learning disability and expansion of the existing Mother and Baby to a wider population. These new services will come on stream during 2009/10 and will secure additional market share for the Trust.

The Trust also intends to continue with its current marketing approach to:

- Maintain and, where possible, grow our existing market share within East London
- Expand our existing services and develop new ones within North East London
- Expand into new markets, where these are consistent with our vision and strategic objectives.

To achieve further expansion and improvement to its existing facilities, the Trust has purchased a property in Hackney for healthcare purposes.

# 2.2.3.3 Relationships with stakeholders and commissioning

The Trust's 5-year IBP is now in its second year having previously been agreed by the local East London PCTs and Local Authorities, and in respect to Forensic services with the seven North East London PCTs. The Trust's 2009/10 Annual Plan is consistent with the local East London PCTs' Commissioning Strategy Plans and their 2009/10 Operating Plans.

The Trust has strengthened its relationships with the East London PCT and Local Authority partners and is also continuing to develop closer relationships with the 13 Practice Based Consortium [PBCs] covering East London.

As part of the original process to develop the IBP the Trust held joint meetings with some of the PBC Borough forums to review the 5-year service strategy. The Trust has recently undertaken a survey of selected GPs in Tower Hamlets and Newham to identify how the Trust can improve its services to primary care. During 2009/10, further work will be undertaken with GPs and PBCs to ensure that the Trust is providing the range and quality of service provision that primary care require and want to commission. This will be complemented by the work of the new Consultant Psychiatrists in Primary Care in City & Hackney and Tower Hamlets.

The Trust is also working closely with the Local Authority Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees and intends to develop closer liaison and joint working with the LINKs [Local Involvement Networks] during 2009/10.

The new London PCT collaborative commissioning arrangements for 2009/10 will mean that Tower Hamlets PCT will be the lead commissioner for the three East London PCTs and the existing North East London arrangements will either continue for specialist commissioning arrangements or they will become London-wide.

In line with NHS London guidance to PCTs and in order to move to the new Mental Health Contract, the East London PCTs (local contracts) and the North East London PCTs (forensic and CAMHS inpatient contract) gave the Trust 2 years notice of termination on the existing four contracts from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2009. In the meantime, the Trust and East London PCTs have agreed to amend the schedules to the existing 3 year East London PCT contracts to be more in line with the new National Mental Health contract. These revised schedules include a Services Quality and Safety Improvement Plan which is consistent with the Trust's quality accounts and improvement agenda outlined in section 2.2.1 and 2.2.2.

The Trust has also been working closely with commissioning partners and stakeholders to develop new services and enhance our existing services, in line with the four borough Children and Young Peoples', Adult and Older Adult strategies and plans. The 2009/10 Annual Plan builds on the achievements of 2008/09 and therefore remains consistent with and addresses the national and local service needs.

# 2.2.3.4 Engagement with Council Members and Membership

During 2008/09, the Trust's Chairman has continued to offer 1-1 meetings with all existing and new members and maintains a close working relationship with the membership team. There have also been five formal meetings of the Council and one development event. The Council members have also participated in a comprehensive induction programme which has involved visits to numerous services across the Trust. These meetings and events have all been very well attended. Considerable work has been undertaken with the Members Council and Membership, as described in section 1, on the development of the 2009/10 Annual Plan.

Membership recruitment continues and regular Foundation Trust Newsletters and invitations to mental health related seminars are sent to the membership. The membership has also been consulted on how the Trust can effectively communicate and engage them in the development of the Trust.

# 2.2.4 Service development plans and priorities for the next 3 years, with a particular focus on the 2009/10 Annual Plan

# 2.2.4.1 Priorities

As part of the development of the 5-year IBP, the Trust completed a SWOT analysis [Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats]. This SWOT analysis has been updated (see Appendix 2) and the 2009/10 Service Development Plan priorities aim to address the Trust's strategic objectives and the key weaknesses and threats identified.

The overall focus of the 2009/10 Annual Plan will be to build on the quality and service improvements made in 2008/09 and improve the service user experience and the services we provide for service users and their carers and families. The 2009/10 plan will do this through *Improving Quality and Safety* and ensure *Sustainability* so that the Trust is financially robust enough to meet the economic challenges over the next 3 years. Within these broad areas, there will be 10 priority areas and these will be supported by the

existing enabling strategies and plans. The key quality priorities will also be used to inform the development of the 2009/10 Quality Report.

To ensure that these key priorities and target areas are delivered, the Board of Directors will regularly review and monitor delivery. The delivery of these priorities will also be the key 2009/10 personal objectives for the Executive Team, Corporate and DMT staff. The key priorities and targets for the 2009/10 Annual Plan are detailed below:

# Improving Quality (Clinical Effectiveness and Patient Experience) and Safety

Priority One: Older adult services

Delivery of the Older Adult Strategy implementation plans

Success Measures: Strategy approved\* by Trust Board in December 2009 subject

to PCT involvement and approval

\*Agreed in principle, subject to consultation with the PCTs, LAs, the public

and other relevant bodies

Delivery of implementation plans, as per timescales

Priority Two: Inpatient services

 Delivery of improvement plans, in line with the Care Quality Commission's quality measures and standards

Target: Full compliance against all standards

Success Measures: At least 95% compliance

Quarterly improvement against service user-led inpatient

standards and service user survey results

 Continued development of and implementation of AIMS for adults and older adults and the Quality Network for CAMHS

Target: Excellent rating (AIMS)

Achievement of standards rated not fully met by 2009 QNIC

peer review

Success Measure: Accreditation rating achieved for all wards (AIMS)

Full implementation of action plan arising from the 2009 QNIC

peer review

Development of gender specific inpatient services

Success Measures: Plan in place by end of October 2009

Full Compliance with Department of Health's Safety, Dignity

and Privacy guidance (mixed sex accommodation standards)

by end of August 2009

Quarterly service user inpatient feedback on key areas of the

guidance

Introduction of service user older adult surveys

Success Measures: Surveys in place by end of October 2009

Assessment of baseline performance and improvement plans/targets in place by January 2010, and progress

monitored quarterly thereafter

# Priority Three: Adult Community services

 Improvements in clinical leadership, responsiveness and timeliness of assessment and brief treatment interventions, through delivery of the community review's implementation plans.

Targets: Initial assessments completed by senior staff and initial

care plan in place within 28 days

Full implementation of the new community services' structures

in all three Boroughs by December 2009

Success Measures: At least 95% of assessments and care plan in place

within 28 days

Improve the implementation and quality of adult CPA

Targets: Full compliance on all CPA elements of care

planning

Undertake six monthly reviews/audits to monitor compliance

and identify any areas for further development

Success Measure: At least 95% compliance with CPA requirements

Introduction of service user community surveys

Target: Surveys in place by end of July 2009

Success Measure: Assessment of baseline performance and improvement

plans/targets in place by November 2009, and improvements

to be agreed and monitored quarterly thereafter

# Priority Four: Physical Healthcare

 Improve in-patient physical healthcare for service users and access to primary care services, through delivery of the Trust-wide and local inpatient implementation plans

Targets: Plan in place by end of June 2009 and review by December

2009

Success Measure: Achievement of all key improvement areas, as outlined

in the plan by end of March 2010

# Priority Five: Carers services

• Improve carers services, engagement and support, and improve the number of carer's assessments offered, through the development and implementation of a Trust-wide plan

Targets: Plan in place by end of June 2009

All carers offered information and an assessment, with support

as detailed within the assessment plan

1 'Psychosis Seminar' learning event to have been undertaken by the end of March 2010, with service users, carers and staff.

Success Measures: 30% increase in the number of carers having had an

assessment by end of March 2010, together with the

appropriate service provision

Introduction of carer surveys/feedback arrangements by end of July 2009, assessment of baseline performance and improvement plans/targets in place by November 2009, and

progress monitored quarterly thereafter

# Priority Six: Learning from Incidents, SUIs, Homicides and Serious Case Reviews [SCRs]

Improved management of SUIs, SCRs and action planning

Target: 100% completion of reviews within agreed deadlines

Regular reviews and audit to ensure that learning is embedded within clinical practice

Success Measure: Quarterly reviews (starting in July 2009) and seminars on

learning from SUIs and SCRs

Six monthly report to the Trust Board on themes and lessons

learnt from SUIs.

Ensure that levels of violence and aggression amongst patients and staff are minimised

Target: Monitor levels, review incidents and introduce measures such

as training and support, review of activities, and reflective

practice to reduce the number and severity of incidents

Success Measure: Reduction in frequency and severity of violence and

aggression for both patients and staff.

90% of frontline inpatient staff trained in prevention and

management of violence and aggression.

Evidence of an improvement in safety on the wards, as perceived by staff and patients, demonstrated by survey

results.

#### Sustainability

# Priority Seven: Driving up Surpluses

- Delivery of new service developments on time and to budget, e.g. Mother and Baby, Specialist Inpatient Secure Service for People with Learning Disability and Low Secure Developments
- Major progress on strategy to enhance forensic bed capacity
- Service strategy reviews
- Invest to Save initiatives
- Extension of market testing

Target: As per project timescales

# Priority Eight: Improved budget management

- Budget accountability
- Improved cost reporting
- Implementation of trading accounts and service line reporting

Target: As per project timescales

# The above priorities would be supported by the following:

#### **Priority Nine: Training, Education and Development Programme**

 Increased uptake of statutory and mandatory training, in line with the Trust's policy and agreed key training sessions

Target: All staff to have undertaken key training sessions by

the end of March 2010

Success Measure: 95% of staff to have undertaken key training

Delivery of and increased uptake of the targeted customer care training

Target: All eligible front-line staff to have been trained by end of

March 2010

Success Measure: 95% of staff trained

 Development and delivery of the Organisational Development and Leadership Programme for the Trust Board, Directorate Management Teams and inpatient and community teams.

Success Measures: Review of existing 'Coaching for Capable Teams' development

programme to be completed by end of May 2009

Development programme in place for Community Mental Health Teams by the end of July 2009

Clinical and Management Leadership programme in place by December 2009

# **Priority Ten: Modern and fit for purpose premises**

 Delivery of the 2009/10 capital investment programme for community venues/sites and ensure that existing premises are maintained to a high standard

Success Measures:

Acquire 3 new community and fit for purpose premises for Tower Hamlets (2 CMHT and 1 CAMHS) and 1 new community base for City & Hackney by October 2009, subject to affordability

Implementation of the back-log maintenance programme, in line with the 2009/10 plan

 Development of the business case for the re-provision of the City & Hackney Centre for Mental Health inpatient service

Target:

Strategic Outline Business Case to be completed by end of June 2009, subject to planning negotiations

In addition to the above, the work started in 2008/09 on the development of the Trust's Young People's Service Strategy and Non Verbal Therapies Strategy will continue.

# 2.2.4.2 Enabling Strategies and Plans

To support the delivery of the above priorities, the integrated organisational development programme, focussing on capability and effectiveness at all organisational levels will continue to be implemented and developed over the next year.

In addition, the following enabling strategies or plans will also continue to be implemented:

- i) Public Participation Strategy and Trust-wide and Local Implementation Plans, to consult on and agree the new people participation strategy and the reward and recognition policy, making links to the Trust's membership, as well as the volunteering strategy. To improve the meaningful engagement of service users and their carers in the shaping, delivery and evaluation of the Trust's services.
- ii) **Performance management,** to further develop the existing quarterly and monthly performance review meetings with the Directorate Management Team and the Corporate Directorates/Department leads on delivery of the annual plan priorities; and, develop performance dashboards to monitor standards and outcomes, as outlined in the key priority areas.
- iii) **Risk management**, to further embed risk management, SUI and SCR monitoring and learning at every level of the organisation, in particular, Directorate and Clinical Team levels.
- iv) **Service Line Reporting**, to participate in the London-wide pilot for mental health services through Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services [CAMHS] and Forensic service pilots. In addition, to develop internal work to refine service- and Directorate-level pricing models and activity based contract performance information in preparation for Payments by Results.

- v) **Social Inclusion and Equalities,** to implement the Single Equalities Scheme following consultation and the equality and diversity training programme to support it. To implement the domestic abuse work programme and develop a robust Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults strategy and structure. To further develop and focus the work of the employment coaches and put in place a clear strategy with target for getting people into work.
- vi) **Information, Management and Technology**, in particular, clinical deployment pilots of RIO in community and specialist settings, ensuring that all relevant clinical activity is properly captured on RIO and to agreed standards, establishment of an information/data warehouse and exploiting new technologies to improve efficiency and productivity, e.g. piloting digital dictation to facilitate flexible working.
- vii) **Workforce**, in particular, maintain the agreed vacancy levels, further develop the new HR structure and a new competency framework and implement the training, education and leadership programme following the review undertaken in 2008/09.
- viii) **Review of corporate structures and functions**, to ensure that these structures are fit for purpose, cost effective and are able to deliver the Trust and DMTs' objectives and priorities.
- ix) **Local Safeguarding Children Boards,** to implement, monitor and continue to develop safeguarding children strategies and recommendations throughout the Trust, taking into account all children in contact with service users or children who are service users themselves.
- x) Local Safeguarding Adults policies and partnership arrangements, to ensure compliance with current guidance and good practice; and to publish an Adult Domestic Abuse Strategy and develop an action plan.

#### 2.2.4.3 Specific Service Developments

The 2009/10 service development plan involves the establishment of ten new services and enhancement of five services. This includes the recruitment of 94 new staff (15 doctors, 35.5 nurses, 9 psychologists, 11.5 therapists, 15 administration staff, 2.5 clinical managers, 2.5 social workers, 2 support workers, 1 gateway worker).

The 2009/10 service developments include:

- a) 2<sup>nd</sup> year of the 5 year IBP developments and 2009/10 developments to increase surpluses, i.e.:
  - Further reconfiguration of older adult inpatient services in City & Hackney
  - Reprovision of the rehabilitation and recovery inpatient service in City & Hackney
  - Specialist secure inpatient service for people with learning disability
  - Expansion of the Mother and Baby Unit, and
  - Increasing forensic low secure capacity subject to business case approval
- b) 2009/10 PCT funded developments, i.e.:
  - Expansion of the CAMHS Parental Mental Health Service
  - New Child and Adolescent Mental Health service to under 25s
  - Expansion of the Paediatric Liaison Service

- Additional staffing for Home Treatment Team for Adults in City & Hackney
- New Psychiatric Liaison Service for Adults in City & Hackney
- Enhanced Psychological Service for Older People in City & Hackney
- New Specialist Intermediate Care Service for Older People in City & Hackney
- New Early Detection Service in Tower Hamlets
- New Non-Verbal Therapies Service for Adults in Tower Hamlets
- Partnership Project for Rehabilitation Home in Tower Hamlets
- Partnership Project for Crisis House in Tower Hamlets
- Additional staffing for Home Treatment Team for Adults in Tower Hamlets

# 2.2.4.4 Impact on mandatory services and volume changes

The only material changes to the mandatory services being proposed in 2009/10 are related to the additional activity for service developments detailed in section in section 2.2.4.3. The activity plans for the next three years are summarised below in Table 10.

Table 10: Activity Plans: 2009/10 - 2011/12

ANNUAL PLAN 2009/10 ACTIVITY SUMMARY	ACTIVITY PLANS		
SERVICE SUMMARY	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	29,800	29,800	29,800
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	15	15	15
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	4,654	4,654	4,654
Adult Services (Excl Forensic PD and Med Secure)			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	309,606	314,158	314,265
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	308	296	296
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	102,844	102,456	102,456
Adult Services - Forensic Med Secure and Personality Disorder			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	4,989	4,880	4,760
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March Excl Tarriro House and Baxter Rd)	194	194	194
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	69,439	70,190	70,190
Older Adult Services			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	52,292	58,158	58,158
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	145	115	115
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	50,279	39,876	39,876
Total CAMHS/Adult/Older Adult			
Community Contacts and Outpatient attenders	396,687	406,996	406,983
Inpatient - Beds (snapshot as at 31st March)	662	620	620
Inpatient - Occupied Bed days	227,215	217,175	217,175

ANNUAL PLAN 2009/10 ACTIVITY SUMMARY	ACTIVITY PLANS		
SERVICE SUMMARY	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Addictions Services			
Drug misusers in treatment	888	908	928
Percentage of drug users retained in treatment for 12 weeks or more	85%	85%	85%

# Commentary on Activity Plans 2009/10-2011/12

# **Inpatient Activity**

The Trust plans show a net reduction of inpatient capacity over the next three years. Total bed numbers at the close of 2009/10 are planned to be 662, potentially falling to 620 by the end of 2011/12. The net change arises from growth of Mother and Baby and Forensic Learning Disability capacity that is offset by a potential reduction in Older Adult and Adult rehabilitation beds. The Older Adult reprovision is subject to further agreement with the East London PCTs.

Table 11 - Bed Change Proposals	Beds	<u>Timetable</u>
Actual 31/3/2009	642	
Expansion of Mother and Baby Unit (4 to 10 beds)	6	Assumed from 1/1/2010
New Forensic Learning Disabilities Service	14	Assumed from 1/6/2009
Potential developments at 31/3/2010	662	
Community unit to replace Rehabilitation Ward	-12	Assumed from 1/10/2009
Community unit to replace Older Adult Wards	-30	Assumed from 1/4/2010
Potential at 31/3/2011 and 31/3/2012	620	

# **Community Activity**

By 2011/12 the number of recorded community contacts with patients in CAMHS, Adult and Older Adult services will grow by approximately 25,000 to just under 407,000 contacts per annum (about 6.5% above the 2008/9 out-turn of around 382,000). The main areas of expansion are:

- Adult Services Personality Disorder and Dual Diagnosis services in Tower Hamlets (c 7,000)
- Older Adult Services Dementia Teams and Intermediate Care Services for City and Hackney and Newham (c 18,000)

# **Mandatory Goods and Services**

A Mandatory Services Schedule is attached (Schedule 2, section 7.1). This table summarises the main service currencies and activity volumes agreed and contracted with the Trust's main East London Commissioners.

For the Trust's three local PCTs, a new and standardised range of Commissioning Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been agreed and will form the basis of performance reporting during 2009/10.

# 2.2.4.5 Compliance with Schedule 4

The Trust's private income cap is zero. The Trust will achieve compliance with this cap.

# 2.2.5 Summary of key service developments

The new service developments have been informed by the Trust's SWOT analysis and the workforce, estates and information, management and technology implications of the developments are detailed in Table 12 overleaf. The activity and financial (capital and revenue) implications of these new developments are included within the activity and financial plans (refer to sections 2.2.4.4 and 2.3.1 respectively). For further information on the delivery dates and lead director responsibility refer to the 2009/10 Implementation Plan in Appendix 3.

Table 12: 2009/10 Service Developments: Summary of Workforce, Estates and Information Management and Technology implications

Service Development		Estates	IM&T		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Year IBP service developments and developments to increase surpluses					
City and Hackney Rehabilitation and Recovery Service	This will involve redeployment of staff or be subject to another provider so there will be no additional staffing requirements.	Subject to the service model and provider	<ul> <li>Subject to the service model and provider</li> </ul>		
Expansion of Trust- wide Mother & Baby Unit based at the City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health	<ul> <li>7 WTE new staff are required</li> <li>Reconfiguration of existing staff will also be required.</li> <li>All new staff in post by January 2010.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Refurbishment of existing ward at City &amp; Hackney Centre for Mental Health site</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in February 2010 and funded through the capital programme.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Full IM&amp;T kit-out and networking required and is included within capital plan.</li> </ul>		
Specialist Secure Inpatient Service for People with Learning Disability based at the John Howard Centre	<ul><li>38 WTE new staff required.</li><li>All staff in post by May 2009.</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Refurbishment of existing ward at John Howard Centre site</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in June 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Full IM&amp;T kit-out and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>		
PCT Funded Developm					
City & Hackney CAMHS	8				
Expansion of the CAMHS Parental Mental Health Service	3.5 WTE new staff required	<ul> <li>Service will be based within existing community team site</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in July 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Full IM&amp;T kit-out and networking required and is included within capital plan.</li> </ul>		
New Child and Adolescent Mental Health service to under 25s	<ul><li>2.5 WTE new staff required</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Service will be based within existing community team site</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in July 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	Full IM&T kit-out and networking required and is included within capital plan.		

Service Development	Workforce	Estates	IM&T	
City & Hackney Adults and Older Adults				
Expansion of the Paediatric Liaison Service	<ul> <li>1 WTE new staff member required</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Service will based within the existing team at Homerton Row and at Homerton University Hospital Foundation Trust</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in July 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Full IM&amp;T kit-out and networking required and is included within capital plan.</li> </ul>	
Additional staffing for Home Treatment Team for Adults in City & Hackney	<ul><li>5 WTE new staff required</li><li>All staff in post by July 2009</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Service will based within the existing team at Homerton Row and at Homerton University Hospital Foundation Trust</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in September 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by June 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>	
New Psychiatric Liaison Service for Adults in City & Hackney	<ul> <li>9 new staff required</li> <li>A Care Pathways Project Manager (non-recurring) will also be appointed and in post by August 2009.</li> <li>All other staff in post by Sept 2009.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Service will based at Homerton University Hospital</li> <li>Refurbishment of office space should be completed by September 2009 and will be funded through the capital programme.</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in December 2009.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by September 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>	
Enhanced Psychological Service for Older People in City & Hackney	<ul> <li>2.2 WTE new staff required.</li> <li>All staff in post by Oct 2009.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Service will based within the existing team at Primrose Resource Centre and Homerton University Hospital</li> <li>Refurbishment of office space will be completed by September 2009</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in December 2009 and funded through the capital programme.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by September 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>	

Service Development	Workforce	Estates	IM&T
City & Hackney Adults	and Older Adults continued		
New Specialist Intermediate Care Service for Older People in City & Hackney	<ul><li>7 WTE new staff required.</li><li>All staff in post by Oct 2009.</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Service will be based within the existing older adults team at Primrose Resource Centre and the older adult inpatient ward at Homerton University Hospital</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in December 2009 and funded through the capital programme.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by September 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>
<b>Tower Hamlets Adults</b>			
New Early Detection Service in Tower Hamlets	<ul><li>4.9 WTE new staff required.</li><li>All staff in post by August 2009.</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Staff will be based at the existing EIS building but see patients in a range of community settings</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in September 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by August 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>
New Non-Verbal Therapies Service for Adults in Tower Hamlets	<ul><li>5 WTE new staff are required.</li><li>All staff in post by July 2009.</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Staff will be based at location or service to be confirmed</li> <li>Service will be fully operational in September 2009 and there is no capital implication.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking required.</li> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by September 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>
Rehabilitation Service for Tower Hamlets	2.8 WTE new staff are required.	Subject to further review.	Subject to further review
Crisis House Service for Tower Hamlets	1 WTE new staff member required.	Subject to further review.	Subject to further review

Service Development	Workforce	Estates	IM&T							
<b>Tower Hamlets Adults</b>	Tower Hamlets Adults continued									
Additional staffing for Home Treatment	<ul><li>5 WTE new staff required.</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Service will based within the existing team at Mile End Hospital</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Additional capacity, e.g. computers, hardware and networking, will be purchased</li> </ul>							
Team for Adults in Tower Hamlets	All staff in post by October 2009.	<ul> <li>Service will be fully operational in October 2009 and funded through the capital programme.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>IM&amp;T infrastructure to be in place by June 2009, funded through existing IM&amp;T strategy.</li> </ul>							

### 2.3 Summary of Financial Forecasts

#### 2.3.1 Overview

The three year financial forecasts complement the five year service plan agreed with our PCTs. Detailed budgets have been agreed with Directors for 2009/10, supported by more indicative figures for the following two years. The figures in this section are summaries, with details included in the Annual Plan financial template submission.

Developments in 2009/10 will be recurrently funded by a combination of confirmed new PCT investment (£5.6m, being a net increase of £3.3m for new Low Secure and Learning Disability units, and £2.3m from local PCT investment in core services) and internal savings (£0.5m) in line with the five year service plan. A capital programme of £13.4m (part of a 3 year capital programme of £20.1m) will support this service agenda, including creating capacity for delivery of new services. Cash forecasts indicate high liquidity throughout the year, carried forward into the following 2 years.

#### 2.3.2 Income and Expenditure

Table 13: Summary figures including the impact on the EBITDA and net surplus margins

	3-Year Plan						
	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12				
INCOME	£m	£m	£m				
Mandatory	<u>181.2</u>	<u>189.8</u>	<u>205.4</u>				
Contracts/Agreements	179.1	187.7	203.2				
Non Contract	2.1	2.1	2.2				
Other Income							
Research	0.4	0.5	0.4				
Education / Training	5.7	5.8	5.8				
Other	3.5	3.6	3.7				
TOTAL INCOME	190.7	199.7	215.3				
SPEND							
Pay	(131.7)	(131.2)	(135.8)				
Non Pay	(47.4)	(51.1)	(60.7)				
TOTAL SPEND	(179.1)	(182.3)	(196.5)				

	3-Year Plan					
	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12			
EBITDA	11.6	17.4	18.8			
Depreciation	(3.6)	(3.6)	(3.6)			
PDC Dividend	(4.3)	(3.4)	(3.4)			
Interest Expense	(1.9)	(1.9)	(1.9)			
Interest Receivable	0.5	0.9	1.1			
	_					
NET SURPLUS	2.3	9.4	11.0			

#### 2009/10

**Income** of £161.1m has been formally signed off with commissioners; income of £19.9m has been agreed in principle (for jointly commissioned services between Local Authorities and PCTs, and for central services with the Department of Health). Non contract income is £3.7m, an increase of £0.9m compared with previous budgets but in line with amounts achieved in the last two years. Contracts to be agreed to support income assumptions are Learning Disability (£1.7m) and the balance of targeted new Low Secure income (£0.5m).

**Spend** has been signed off by relevant Directors and includes full establishment budgeting and internal reprioritisation of £5m to fund validated cost pressures. A recurring provision has been made for inflation pressures in line with national guidance contained within the National Operating Framework, and for costs of the second year of the three year national pay agreement and associated incremental drift, and within the 1.7% national generic uplift.

### 2.3.3 The impact of IFRS

Until 2008/9 the financial statements were prepared under the Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP). From 2009/10 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are being adopted across central government and the public sector in the UK as required by HM Treasury. NHS foundation trusts are therefore required, for the first time, to prepare their three year plan under IFRS.

The main impact for us is that some of our leases are now classified as Finance leases under IFRS; these plus the PFI scheme will now appear on the balance sheet. The comparative information to show the impact of implementing IFRS on the key risk rating ratios is summarised in the table below:

Table 14: Impact of IFRS

GAAP	IFRS	Und	erlying perf	ormance (w	eighting 2	5%)	
2	3	5	4	3	2	1	
4.9%	6.1%	11%	9%	5%	1%	<1%	
GAAP	IFRS	Return on assets (weighting 20%)					
5	4	5	4	3	2	1	
7.3%	5.3%	6%	5%	3%	-2%	< -2%	
GAAP	IFRS	I	S surplus m	nargin (weig	hting 20%)	)	
3	3	5	4	3	2	1	
1.7%	1.2%	3%	2%	1%	-2%	< -2%	
3	3		Over	all Risk Ra	ting		

The "underlying performance" indicator has improved from 4.9% to 6.1%, primarily because of the treatment of the PFI unitary charge; an element which would have been charged as operating expenditure, is now treated non-operating expenditure as an interest expense.

"Return on assets" indicator has deteriorated from 7.3% to 5.3%, mainly because the additional depreciation charge as a result of an increase in the asset base. The additional depreciation charge reduces the net surplus which consequently reduces the return on assets.

#### 2010/11 and 2011/12

**Income** is assumed to increase annually at assumed generic increases of 1.7% for 2010/11 and 1.2% thereafter. The principle of increase in income for carry forward services at the generic uplift is agreed within the signed contracts with PCTs. No assumption has been made for further development income (which, if received, will be offset by spend, thus being neutral for net income/expenditure purposes) or for reductions in PCT or national income. Income from new initiatives has not been factored in.

Pay Spend reflects the third year of the three year pay agreement plus incremental drift.

**Non pay spend** reflects assumed inflation of 1.5%, to be allocated against specific non pay pressures.

**Annual cost savings** will need to increase from past years to reflect the reduced growth available to the NHS, with plans being set to generate minimum savings (and/or surpluses from new initiatives) and achieve the a risk rating

### 2.3.4 Savings Plans

**Table 15: 3-Year Savings Plans** 

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
	£m	£m	£m
Administration / Community Services Review	1.1		
Establishment Review Exercise	1.7		
Spend to save initiative	0.3		
Ward Closure Savings	0.9		
Elderly Services Reconfiguration	0.2		
CMHT Rationalisation £108k, Homerton Overhead Reduction £100k, Repatriation of Private Sector Placements £123k	0.3		
		· I	
Combination of new business / Invest to save schemes / VFM reviews / Cost containment and good housekeeping measures		6.2	8.9
TOTAL	4.5	6.2	8.9

Savings plans will top up PCT investment to fund service developments and changes in service provision (as agreed with the PCTs within the 5 year plan), and to finance national generic inflation shortfalls. The total savings includes the effect of the assumed reduction in NHS resource availability and the need for increased amounts of annual savings.

# 2.3.5 Performance Against Foundation Trust Metrics (Ratings-R) and Key Assumptions

Performance against the metrics show considerable margin in all, with the exception of the underlying margin as outlined in the table overleaf.

**Table 16: Overall Rating** 

	Plan Actual			3-Year Plan						
	2008/9	2008/9	2008/9		2009/10		2010/11		2011/12	
	R	R		R	%	R	%	R	%	
Plan Achievement	5	3		3	78.6	3	78.6	3	78.6	
EBITDA margin	3	2		3	6.1	3	8.7	3	8.7	
Asset Return	5	5		4	5.3	5	9.5	5	9.9	
Net Surplus	5	4		3	1.2	5	4.7	5	5.1	
Liquidity (days)	5	5		4	59.6	5	73.8	5	91	
OVERALL RATING	4	3		3		4		4		

#### 2.3.6 Conclusions

The three year financial plan maintains the Trust's financial base whilst supporting the service plan. The overall risk rating has reduced from 4 to a plan for 3, partly due to the use of the continued high level of liquidity to fund revenue spend to finance restructuring consistent with the Trust's strategy and to maintain the Trust's competitive position in selected areas. Main risks are the need to fulfil key initiatives required to fund the assumed increase in efficiency savings.

### 2.4 Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy

Table 17: 2008/09 and 3-Year Plan

	Plan	Actual			
	2008/9	2008/9	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Maintenance	1.2	1.7	1.6	1.6	1.6
Asset Replacement					
Non Maintenance	9.7	13.3	11.8	3.3	0.2
Community Facilities	5.6	3.6	0.1		
In-patient Facilities	0.8	5.2	9.5	3.0	0
Increased Capacity	3.3	4.5	2.2	0.3	0.2
TOTAL	10.9	15.0	13.4	4.9	1.8

The planned capital investment complements the service plans, concentrating on enhancing the capital infrastructure through the Asset Replacement Programme, replacing community facilities not fit for purpose, preparing replacement in-patient facilities, rationalising other premises into new build and increasing capacity for new income attracting services.

For further information on the 3-year Capital Development Plan refer to Appendix 4.

### 2.5 Financing and working capital strategy

**Table 18: Working Capital** 

	Plan	Actual		3-Year Plan		
	2008/9	2008/9	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12	
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	
EBITDA	12.1	8.2	11.6	17.4	18.8	
Working Capital:	(21.9)	(11.5)	(4.5)			
Debtors / Creditors Movement		(5.6)	(4.5)			
Cash in Advance	(19.3)	(5.9)				
Cash Inflow From Operating Activities	(9.8)	(3.3)	7.1	17.4	18.8	
Capital Spend	(10.9)	(13.6)	(13.4)	(4.9)	(1.8)	

	Plan Actual			3-Year Plan			
	2008/9	2008/9	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12		
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m		
Capital Receipt		6.0					
Exceptional Spend	(1.6)	(0.3)					
Cash Inflow < Financing	(22.3)	(11.2)	(6.3)	12.5	17.0		
Dividends Paid	(3.8)	(3.8)	(4.3)	(3.4)	(3.4)		
Net PDC Receipts		0.9					
Interest Received	1.5	2.6	0.6	0.9	1.1		
Int/Capital element on Balance Sheet			(2.4)	(2.3)	(2.3)		
Cash Inflow > Financing	(24.6)	(11.5)	(12.4)	7.7	12.4		
Opening Balance	58.7	58.7	47.2	34.8	42.5		
Closing Balance	34.1	47.2	34.8	42.5	54.9		

The liquidity strategy is based on continued effective working capital control and supported by continuing surpluses, less capital spend. The Trust will be reviewing the advantages of accessing the NHS Bank for capital spend, which, if attracted, will further support the cash figure. Targeted creditor days are 30 with targeted NHS debtor days of 9 and 30 (non NHS); the latter will require support from local authority commissioners who currently pay quarterly in arrears.

The Working Capital Facility of £13m will not be required but will be available up to its current expiry in September 2009. The need for this will be reviewed at this time.

### 2.6 Summary of key assumptions

The summary of key financial and other assumptions are detailed below.

#### Financial:

- No income claw back by PCTs or by the Department of Health.
- Full achievement of signed off contract income where appropriate.
- Operating spend including achievement of savings' plans, and management of cost pressures to budget levels.
- Adequate inflation provision including that required to meet the 3 year pay award agreements, and incremental drift.
- Achievement of savings plans including savings / surpluses from key initiatives planned in 2009/10 for implementation in 2010/11 onwards.
- Continued working capital control.

#### Other:

- Successful implementation of the Organisational Development and Leadership
  programme to ensure that the Trust is able to retain highly skilled staff and develop their
  skills to equip them to deliver high quality services.
- The capability, capacity and effectiveness of the organisation will be improved through the integrated organisational development plan and the enabling strategies and plans.
- Improved Quality and Safety through successful implementation of service development plans, Quality Accounts and the 10 Key Priorities and targets.
- Stakeholder partnerships will continue to be developed and strengthened, including with Practice Based Commissioning Consortium.
- Securing new business and exploiting market opportunities, in line with the Trust's vision and strategic objectives.

#### 3. RISK ANALYSIS

#### 3.1 Introduction

The Trust Board has identified no major risks, but four medium risks, i.e.: i) increased demand for inpatient services, ii) public confidence resulting from SUIs and adverse public reaction to the restructuring of older adult services, iii) income for new low secure developments and iv) in-year financial pressures. Further information on the medium and other risks is detailed below.

#### 3.2 Governance Risk

### 3.2.1 Legality of Constitution

The Trust has made no changes to its Constitution since Authorisation on 1<sup>st</sup> November 2007.

### 3.2.2 Growing a Representative Membership

At the time of Foundation Trust approval, the Trust had an overall membership of almost 7,500-4,919 public members and 2,510 staff members. As at  $1^{st}$  April 2009 we have a total membership of 10,563 comprising, 8,036 public and 2,527 staff members. This represents an increase of over 40% with the largest percentage increase being within the public group.

### 3.2.3 Board Roles, Structures and Capacity

The Trust Board and Executive Team development programme, externally facilitated (by an experienced management consultant who is currently working with a number of Mental Health and Acute Foundation Trusts), will continue in 2009/10. This will be supported by the implementation of the next phase of the Trust's organisational development programme to develop and strengthen clinical and management leadership and capability within the five Directorate Management Teams including community and inpatient teams.

During 2008/09, the Human Resources Directorate restructuring was completed. This will now ensure that the organisation has the skills and capacity to lead on the delivery of the workforce and key annual plan priorities. In addition, the Chief Executive/Deputy Chief Executive have started reviewing the other major corporate directorates and functions such as Finance, IM&T, Estates, Facilities and Capital Development. This review is to ensure that they are fit for purpose and capable of delivering the Annual Plan priorities; and, are structured to support the five DMTs to deliver their local objectives and priorities. A further review of the corporate structures will be undertaken in 2009/10 with the aim of ensuring value for money.

The Trust is also working with Concordat to share information with regulators, audit and review bodies and Strategic Health Authorities to support improvement. The London Strategic Health Authority risk summits were held on December 10<sup>th</sup> 2008 and January 6<sup>th</sup> 2009 where there was a systematic review of concerns for all trusts in the region. Through these discussions, there was a collective agreement that there are currently no areas of concern pertaining to the Trust.

The Board maintains its register of interests, and can confirm that there are no material conflicts of interest in the Board. The Board is also satisfied that all Directors are appropriately qualified to discharge their functions effectively including setting strategy, monitoring and managing performance.

The management structure in place is appropriate to deliver the annual plan objectives in the next 3 years, in particular, in 2009/10.

#### 3.2.4 Service Performance (targets and national core standards)

The Trust has maintained the risk and performance management process identified in its 5 year IBP and further developed in 2008/09.

In March 2009 internal audit following a review concluded that there exists "Substantial Assurance that the Trust has a generally sound system of internal control designed and operating in a way that that gives a reasonable likelihood that the system's objectives will be met," concluding that "there is an effective system in place to enable the Trust Board to sign off the Declaration of Compliance with the Core Standards in April 2009."

The Trust achieved ratings of "excellent" for quality of services and "excellent" for use of resources in the Annual Health Check results published in October 2008. The Trust was fully compliant with the core standards, existing national targets and new national targets.

In January 2009, the Trust received an unannounced visit from the Healthcare Commission to monitor compliance with the Hygiene Code. The Trust was assessed compliant against its three main duties under the hygiene code, the highest possible rating. This will be kept under review by the Trust to ensure that compliance is maintained during 2009/10.

The Trust was also compliant with or achieved all of the key national and PCT contract targets in 2008/09 and has set in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that all 2009/10 service targets will be achieved.

The Board is satisfied that there are plans in place to ensure the Trust meets the national standards in 2009/10.

### 3.2.5 Clinical Quality

Clinical quality is maintained internally by scrutiny of various quality indicator data. The five Service Directorates are accountable for service quality through the performance management and healthcare governance process.

The Board considers as medium risk increased demand for adult inpatient services, resulting in high occupancy levels and therefore potential failure to deliver high quality inpatient care.

#### 3.2.6 Effective Risk and Performance Management

As in previous years, the Trust obtained a rating of Substantial Assurance by internal audit following a review of the Board Assurance Framework. The review focuses on the adequacy and the appropriateness of risk management control and review processes to support the Statement of Internal Control (SIC) during 2008/09.

In March 2008 internal audit evaluated the Trust's progress in preparing compliance with the Standards for Better Health. It concluded that there was Substantial Assurance to enable the Trust Board to sign off the declaration of compliance for the period 1<sup>st</sup> April 2008-31<sup>st</sup> March 2009.

During April - December 2008 internal audit reviewed whether the Trust has appropriate systems in place to make robust agreements / contracts which are sustainable and are suitably linked to the objectives of the Trust and the health needs of the population. The audit also assessed the effectiveness of the operation of the internal controls surrounding the Trust's legally binding contracts with purchasers and its ability to meet the health needs of its patients. The auditors gave Substantial Assurance for this area.

An external review of the Trust's SUI policy and procedures was undertaken in 2008 and the inquiry's report and recommendations were presented to the Trust Board in September 2008. The Trust has further strengthened its SUI procedures, management of SUIs reviews and learning from these incidents.

The Inquiry Panel's recommendations were fully implemented in 2008/09 and the management and monitoring of SUIs has also been further strengthened. The Board reviewed the action plan at its Board Seminar in March 2009. In view of this, the Board does not consider this to be a significant risk for 2009/10.

The Trust achieved level 2 of The NHSLA Risk Management Standards for Mental Health & Learning Disability NHS Trusts, the assessments of which took place in November 2008 and February 2009.

The Board considers as medium risk the loss of public confidence in the Trust because of major serious untoward incidents.

The Board continues to receive a quarterly Performance Report from the Director of Performance and Business Department which describes performance in key areas, including the Annual Plan priorities. This will be developed in 2009/10 to address the key 10 priority areas. In addition, monthly meetings are held with the five Service Directorate Leads to review performance against key objectives and priorities.

The monthly KPI scorecard is reviewed monthly with the Director of Performance and Business Development and all Service Directorate and Care Group Performance Leads, prior to submission and further review by the monthly Service Delivery Board. The latter group is chaired by the Chief Executive and includes the Executive Team, Corporate Directors, Clinical Directors and Borough/Service Directors.

### 3.2.7 Cooperation with NHS Bodies and Local Authorities

The strategic approach of the Trust is to work together with key partners and stakeholders to achieve its objectives.

The Trust is working to further develop its relationships with the local PCTs which commission the bulk of the services provided by the Trust as well as the Local Authorities which serve our local populations. In Newham and City and Hackney we are in the process of negotiating new Section 75s. In Tower Hamlets, local authority employees are seconded to East London NHS Foundation Trust and the secondment agreement is being updated.

In 2009/10 we will be working more closely with 13 Practice Based Commissioning Consortia covering East London in order to improve services and support to GPs and Primary Health Care Teams and provide care that is more responsive to local needs. In City & Hackney and Newham this work will be informed and supported by the Trust's Consultant Psychiatrists in Primary Care.

The Trust is committed to and participates in the local Drug Action and Alcohol Teams which oversee the provision of Drug and Alcohol services in our catchment area.

We also contribute to the local strategy and planning groups which shape the provision of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and those services which provide care for older people with mental health problems. Finally, the Trust is developing strong relationships with the police by a number of means including senior representation of Multi Agency Public Protection Panels.

### 3.3 Mandatory Service Risks

### 3.3.1 Mandatory Services

During 2008/09 the Trust purchased a property in Hackney and since this will be critical to the delivery of its services, this asset will be protected, as required by Monitor. There have been no other changes to protected assets.

The Trust Board has changed its 2009/10 Mandatory Services Schedule 2 (section 7.1) to reflect new services or additional activity arising from reconfiguration of services or additional PCT investments.

The Board has assessed the possible adverse public reaction to the reconfiguration and closure of older adult inpatient beds as a medium risk.

### 3.3.2 Significant Risks

No significant risks have been identified in relation to the Trust's ability to comply with the terms of its Authorisation with regard to the provision of mandatory services.

#### 3.4 Financial Risk Assessment

The Board, and the FBIC, has assessed the financial risks. There are two medium financial risks, i.e. i) income for new low secure developments and ii) in-year financial pressures. Income is largely secure. Spend budgets include £5m of internal reprioritisation funds to offset clinically validated pressures evident in previous years and predicted for 2009/10; consequently spend budgets are robust. However, there is little contingency, emphasising the need for improved cost control and cost reporting.

The Board has agreed key priorities to progress in 2009/10, each of which will generate significant surpluses or savings, and which will contribute to increasing the operating surplus up to the Board target of 7% from 2010/11.

Table 19: Financial Risk

Risk	Likelihood	Impact	Score	Mitigating Actions
Pay Drift	1	4	4	A provision has been established for incremental drift.  Protocol reconfirmed that re-grading costs to
				be offset by skill mix changes.
National Pay Awards	1	4	4	A provision has been established to fund the agreed national pay award.
In Year Financial	2	4	8	Budgets at full establishment against unique post numbers.
Pressures				Main cost pressure areas funded through the 2009/10 budget setting round.
				Improved cost reporting
Reduced	1	4	4	Signed contracts.
Income				Non-contract income £3.4m out of budgeted income of £192m.
				Balance of Low Secure (£0.5m) and Learning Disability (£1.7m) to be signed off.
Savings'	1	4	4	Savings signed off against start dates.
Shortfall				Vacancy and community review savings of £2.2m budgeted.
Reduced Liquidity	1	2	2	Commissioning payment terms agreed.
Income for	2	4	8	Reduced operating costs
new low secure				Marketing strategy to be put in place by June 2009.
developments				External capacity/staffing to be employed as required.

### 3.5 Risk of any other non-compliance with Terms of Authorisation

In November 2008 internal audit reviewed whether the Trust had put in place controls to ensure that the Foundation Trust complies with their Constitution and statutory duty as required by Monitor and set out in the Compliance Framework. The auditors gave Substantial Assurance for this area.

The Board is not aware of any other risk to compliance with the Terms of Authorisation. The Board has reviewed all the issues identified as risks within the Annual Plan submission and has concluded that while there are challenges facing the Trust, none of them are of sufficient severity or likelihood to result in non-compliance with the Trust's Terms of Authorisation.

### 3.6 Presentation of Key Risks

The Trust has used the risk assessment criteria and methodology detailed in 3.6.2 to determine its key risks and has identified four medium level risks. These risks and those detailed within this risk section have been included within the Trust's risk register which is regularly reviewed by the Assurance Committee.

## 3.6.1 Summary of Key Risks

Table 20: Key Medium Risks

Risk Area	Description	Impact 1-4	Likelihood 1-4	Main rating (impact x likelihood)	Implication	Mitigating Actions
Increased demand on adult inpatient services	High occupancy levels resulting in failure to deliver high quality inpatient care.	3	3	9 (Medium Risk)	i) Failure to deliver therapeutic inpatient environments.  ii) Service user and carer dissatisfaction.  iii) Potential increase in violence and aggression.  iv) Low staff morale.	<ul> <li>Regular bed management monitoring and review and utilise bed managers and discharge coordinators more effectively.</li> <li>Ensure effective A&amp;E and Crisis Resolution/Home Treatment Team coordination and review of all admissions to avoid unnecessary admissions.</li> <li>Utilise emergency capacity at times of high demand.</li> <li>Further develop alternatives to inpatient services through the Recovery and Rehabilitation Teams.</li> <li>Implement action plans to address areas of dissatisfaction identified through inpatient service user surveys.</li> <li>Review incidents of violence and aggression and introduce/deploy strategies to reduce these incidents.</li> <li>Staff focus groups to address low staff morale and provide additional staffing/clinical support as required.</li> </ul>
Public Confidence.	1) Loss of public confidence in the Trust because of major serious untoward incidents and credibility with partners and commissioners.  2) Adverse public reaction to the	4	2	8 (Medium risk)	Increased litigation.      Risk to income because of exercise of service user choice and commissioners place contracts elsewhere.	<ul> <li>Continue to improve quality of services, strengthening CPA and risk management arrangements.</li> <li>Strengthen SUI policy and procedures following implementation of an external review and the management and monitoring of SUIs.</li> <li>Strengthen learning across the Trust following all SUIs and change and monitor practice in accordance with agreed action plans.</li> <li>Strengthen clinical leadership.</li> <li>Implement the key priorities of the workforce strategy, in particular, implementation of more robust appraisal and supervision arrangements.</li> </ul>

Risk Area	Description	Impact 1-4	Likelihood 1-4	Main rating (impact x likelihood)	Implication	Mitigating Actions
	restructuring of older adult services.				2) Risk to delivery of the Annual Plan/5 year service strategy, in particular, the older adult community service developments.	<ul> <li>Work closely with service users, carers and relatives on the plans for older adult inpatient bed reductions.</li> <li>Ensure Trust's Older Adult Strategy is developed in full consultation and agreement with local stakeholders, including carers.</li> <li>Work jointly with PCTs, LAs and Health Scrutiny Committees to link the Trust's service developments with their wider strategies.</li> <li>Involve the Members Council in the annual planning process and to work with local stakeholders and explain the rationale for these initiatives.</li> </ul>
Income for new low secure developments	Failure to secure sufficient income and meet surplus targets.	2	4	8 (Medium risk)	a) Failure to achieve financial targets.	<ul> <li>Reduced operating costs</li> <li>Marketing strategy to be put in place by June 2009.</li> <li>External capacity/staffing to be employed as required.</li> </ul>
In Year Financial Pressures	Unbudgeted in year financial pressures	2	4	8 (Medium risk)	a) Failure to achieve financial targets.	<ul> <li>Budgets at full establishment against unique post numbers.</li> <li>Main cost pressure areas funded through the 2009/10 budget setting round.</li> <li>Improved cost reporting.</li> </ul>

## 3.6.2 Risk Assessment Criteria and Methodology

Table 21: Risk Methodology

Impact	1	2	3	4
Impact	Minor	Moderate	Significant	Critical
	The Trust will face some issues but which will not lower its ability to deliver quality services.	The Trust will face some difficulties, which may have a small impact on its ability to deliver quality services, and/or some elements of its long term strategy may have to be revised.	The Trust will face some major difficulties which are likely to undermine its ability to deliver quality services on a daily basis and/or its long term strategy.	The Trust will face serious difficulties and will be unable to deliver services on a daily basis. Its long-term strategy will be in jeopardy.
Likelihood	1	2	3	4
	Unlikely	Possible	Probable	Almost certain
	Unlikely to occur	Reasonable chance of occurring	Likely to occur	More likely to occur than not
	Probability is 1-25%	Probability is 25-50%	Probability is 50-75%	Probability is 75-100%

#### 4. DECLARATIONS AND SELF-CERTIFICATION

#### **Board Statements**

As part of the FT Compliance Framework, the Trust is expected to declare and self-certify that it is compliant with all aspects of Monitor's regulatory regime. The Trust's Board of Directors considers that it is fully compliant on all areas detailed below but additional assurance and related commentary is available in Section 3: Risk Analysis of this plan.

#### Clinical quality

The board of directors is required to confirm the following:

The board is satisfied that, to the best of its knowledge and using its own processes (supported by Care Quality Commission information and including any further metrics it chooses to adopt), its NHS foundation trust has, and will keep in place, effective arrangements for the purpose of monitoring and continually improving the quality of healthcare provided to its patients; and

The board will self certify annually that, to the best of its knowledge and using its own processes, it is satisfied that plans in place are sufficient to ensure ongoing compliance with the Care Quality Commission's registration requirements.

### Service performance

The board of directors is required to confirm the following:

The board is satisfied that plans in place are sufficient to ensure ongoing compliance with all existing targets (after the application of thresholds) and national core standards, and a commitment to comply with all known targets going forwards.

#### Risk management

The board of directors is required to confirm the following:

Issues and concerns raised by external audit and external assessment groups (including reports for NHS Litigation Authority assessments) have been addressed and resolved. Where any issues or concerns are outstanding, the board is confident that there are appropriate action plans in place to address the issues in a timely manner;

All recommendations to the board from the audit committee are implemented in a timely and robust manner and to the satisfaction of the body concerned:

The necessary planning, performance management and risk management processes are in place to deliver the annual plan;

A Statement of Internal Control ("SIC") is in place, and the NHS foundation trust is compliant with the risk management and assurance framework requirements that support the SIC pursuant to the most up to date guidance from HM Treasury (see <a href="http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk">http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk</a>);

	mum of Level 2 performance against the ance Statement of Compliance (IGSoC) in the rnance Toolkit; and.								
$\  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  $	their Authorisation have been identified and								
Compliance with the Terms of Authorisation									
The board of directors is required to confirm	the following:								
☐ The board will ensure that the compliant with their Authorisation and rel	NHS foundation trust remains at all times evant legislation;								
The board has considered all likely future risks to compliance with their Authorisation, the level of severity and likelihood of a breach occurring and the plans or mitigation of these risks; and									
	priate evidence to review these risks and has them where required to ensure continued								
Board roles, structure and capacity									
The board of directors is required to confirm	the following:								
☐ The board maintains its registe that there are no material conflicts of ir	r of interests, and can specifically confirm terest in the board;								
	ectors are appropriately qualified to discharge setting strategy, monitoring and managing capacity and capability;								
☐ The selection process and training executive directors have appropriate exp	g programmes in place ensure that the non- erience and skills;								
☐ The management team have the deliver the annual plan; and	ne capability and experience necessary to								
☐ The management structure in pla objectives for the next three years.	ce is adequate to deliver the annual plan								
Signature Selief Select	Signature Modely Meacher								
Printed Name Dr Robert Dolan	Printed Name Baroness Molly Meacher								
Date 28 <sup>th</sup> May 2009	Date 28 <sup>th</sup> May 2009								
In capacity as Chief Executive & Accounting Officer	In capacity as Chairman								

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors, and having regard to the views of the governors.

### 5. Membership

### 5.1 Membership Report

The Trust has a total membership of 10,802, i.e.: 8,036 public members and 2,766 staff members, as at 31 March 2009.

### 5.1.1 Membership Size and Movements

Tables 22-24 below show:

- changes to our membership in the past 12 months;
- planned membership growth in 2009/10; and
- the demographic composition of our membership.

**Table 22: Public Constituent Membership Changes** 

Public Constituency	2008/09	2009/10 (estimated)	Percentage Increase
At Year Start (April 1)	7,088	8,036	13%
New members in year	1575	1764	12%
Members leaving in year	637	800	26%
At year end (March 31)	8036	9000	12%

**Table 23: Staff Constituent Membership Changes** 

Staff Constituency	Members	2009/10 (estimated)	Percentage Increase
At Year Start (April 1)	2568	2766	7.7%
New members in year	554	587	6%
Members leaving in year	356	387	8.7%
At year end (March 31)	2766	2966	7.2%

**Table 24: Patient Constituent Membership Changes** 

Patient Constituency*	Members	2009/10 (estimated)	Percentage Increase
At Year Start (April 1)	N/A	N/A	N/A
New members in year	N/A	N/A	N/A
Members leaving in year	N/A	N/A	N/A
At year end (March 31)	N/A	N/A	N/A

<sup>\*</sup>ELNFT does not have patient constituent members. Service users can be members but are counted in the public membership and are not required to disclose whether they are service users or not

Table 25: Public Membership Analysis by Age

Public Constituency by Age	Number of Members	Eligible Population <sup>1</sup>	% of Membership (Category known) <sup>2</sup>	% Target of Population	
0-16	112	161822	1.56	23.42	
17-21	609	50938	8.50	7.37	
22-29	1281	115637	17.89	16.73	
30-39	1635	138933	22.83	20.10	
40-49	1467	93156	20.48	13.48	
50-59	974	56288	13.60	8.15	
60-74	807	48917	11.27	7.08	
75+	277	25368	3.87	3.67	
Total (Age Known)	7162	-	-	-	
Unknown	874	N/A	-	-	
Total	8036	691059	100	100	

Table 26: Public Membership Analysis by Ethnic Grouping

Public Constituency by Ethnicity	Number of Members	Eligible Population	% of Membership (Category known)	% Target of Population
White	2964	343896	45.90	49.76
Mixed	368	23270	5.70	3.37
Asian or Asian British	1636	179728	25.34	26.01
Black or Black British	1278	122787	19.79	17.77
Other	211	21378	3.27	3.09
Total (Ethnicity Stated)	6457	-	-	-
Ethnicity Not Stated	1579	N/A	-	N/A
Total	8036	691059	100	100

Eligible population figures in all tables do not include the Other London Boroughs Constituency.

Percentage of Membership' figures in all tables are based on percentage of members where data has been provided, e.g. where age, ethnicity, or gender was stated.

Table 27: Public Membership Analysis by Socio-economic Grouping (ACORN category profile) <sup>1</sup>

Public Constituency by Socio-economic grouping (ACORN Category Profile)	Number of Members	Eligible Population	% of Membership (Category Known)	% Target of Population
1. Wealthy Achievers	8	10	0.17	0
2. Urban Prosperity	2745	273037	35.82	39.51
3. Comfortably Off	152	9513	1.98	1.38
4. Moderate Means	1009	105355	13.17	15.25
5. Hard Pressed	3750	303144	48.93	43.87
Total (Category Known)	7664	N/A	N/A	N/A
Unknown	372	N/A	N/A	N/A
Total	8036	691059	100	100

Table 28: Public Membership Analysis by Socio-economic Grouping (NRS category profile) $^2$ 

Public Constituency by Socio-economic grouping (NRS Category Profile)	Number of Members	Eligible Population	% of Membership (Category Known)	% Target of Population
Middle Class	4119	220218	51.26	51.32
Skilled Working Class	1082	55236	13.47	12.87
Working Class	1808	93433	22.50	21.77
Dependent on State	1026	60211	12.77	14.03
Total (Category Known)	8035	N/A	N/A	-
Unknown	1	N/A	N/A	=
Total	8036	429098	100	100

<sup>1</sup> The membership commentary is based on the ACORN category profiling information in Table 27 as ACORN

The membership commentary is based on the ACORN category profiling information in Table 27 as ACORN uses total population figures whereas NRS socio-economic data is only available for employed individuals aged between 16 and 64.

The eligible population figures in Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the Table 28 are based on the full 2004 agrees data smallette for the full 2004 agr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The eligible population figures in Table 28 are based on the full 2001 census data available for the Trust's catchment area because NRS socio-economic data is only available for employed individuals aged between 16 and 64.

Table 29: Public Membership Analysis by Gender

Public Constituency by Gender	Number of Members	Eligible Population	% of Membership (Category known)	% Target of Population		
Female	4619	342051	57.92	49.50		
Male	3356	349008	42.08	50.50		
Total (Gender Stated)	7975	-	-	-		
Gender Not Stated	61	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Total	8036	691059	100	100		

### **5.2** Membership Commentary

The Trust's membership constituencies and their representation on the Members' Council are as follows:

- <u>Public Members</u> City of London (1 representative), Hackney (7 representatives), Newham (7 representatives), Tower Hamlets (7 representatives), and Other London Boroughs (1 representative). Anyone aged 12 years and above and living within the constituent areas of the Trust is invited to become a member of the Trust. Based on feedback from the public consultation the Trust opted not to have a separate patient and carer constituency.
- <u>Staff Members</u> Single staff constituency (7 representatives). All staff on permanent contracts or on fixed-term contracts that run for 12 months or longer are automatically members unless they opt out of membership. Staff who are seconded from partner agencies and bank staff in post or on contracts longer than 12 months were invited to opt in as staff members.

The Trust's focus for 2008/09 was setting up systems to support the increased involvement of members in the life of the Trust and to support the work and development of the Members Council in its first full year of operation. As shown above, the Trust has now built a solid membership base and in 2008/09 its major achievements were:

- Further development of the Membership Office as a drop-in facility/welcoming space for members and council members
- Smooth running of Members Council meetings and events
- Delivering ongoing support for individual council members and a development programme for the Members Council
- Organisation of membership events, including a Trust-wide Carers Event, the Trust's Annual Members Meeting, Annual General Meeting and a number of membership events associated with the development of the Trust's Annual plan for 2009/10.
- Developing communication methods for members/council members (i.e. council member forum on the website, revamping of Membership Newsletter)
- Development of a membership information pack that is provided to all new and existing members (and includes an personalised membership card)

- Carrying out the Trust's first (annual) membership survey
- Development of a Volunteering Strategy (currently out for consultation before being submitted to the Board) and recruitment of a Volunteer Coordinator
- Providing work experience placements for members
- Working in partnership with other Trust staff, council members and stakeholders in relation to the above achievements

#### Priorities for 2009/10 focus on:

- Developing more effective recruitment methods, via implementation and use of a new membership database that supports targeted recruitment, and a stakeholder database.
- Working to clarify and develop the role of members and council members, and to promote the role of council members within the local community.
- Delivery of an increased range of membership events and other involvement opportunities for members
- Implementation of the Trust's Volunteering Strategy
- Development of a mental health promotion strategy in line with the national "Time to Change" campaign
- Running of elections to the Members Council.

### **5.2.1** Representative Membership

Representation within the membership has been monitored monthly and recruitment efforts have been targeted to address any under-representations. In 2009/10 a new membership database will be implemented which will allow the membership team to directly target under represented groups for relevant events. Analysis of the current membership shows that it is largely representative of the local population (by location, age, gender, and ethnicity). Ongoing action is being taken to address areas where the membership is unrepresentative.

### **5.2.2 Membership Engagement**

The successful delivery of the Trust's Membership Strategy involves developing an active membership, which provides an opportunity for members to become engaged in the work of the Trust, and use and develop their skills and experience, should they wish to do so. Information on member interests gathered from members shows that the Trust has recruited a potentially active public membership and is helping to inform the Trust's plans for member engagement.

Membership engagement is a main focus of the Trust's work plan for 2009/10. The Trust has sent out a regular newsletter to members over the past year. Following the success of involving members in the annual plan drafting process in 2008/09 the Trust has held four events (three borough specific events and one Trust wide event) to consult public members on the 2009/10 annual plan. Member input from this event was compiled and fed back to the board and then integrated into the draft annual plan.

The membership database will be used to engage current members in events of specific interest through targeted mail shots. The Trust has also appointed a volunteering coordinator to proactively engage members in the Trust's work. Feedback from members

shows that over 40% of current members are interested in volunteering opportunities with the Trust. Opportunities are advertised via the newsletter which is distributed to all members, in Quarter One of 2009/10 there are 5 volunteering schemes open to members.

The membership office is in consultation with Trust HR and the seven staff membership representatives to address engagement of the staff membership in 2009/10. The new staff induction process will include a presentation on membership.

#### 5.2.3 Elections

The Trust completed the election process in June 2007. The next election is due to take place towards the end of summer 2009. There were no elections in 2008/09.

### 5.2.4 Resourcing the Membership

The Membership of the Trust is supported by a Membership Manager and Membership Officer. The Trust also plans to spend approximately £7 per member per year on ensuring effective and meaningful engagement. This is in addition to the £7 per member budgeted for new member recruitment.

### 5.2.5 Evaluating success

The success of the Trust's Membership Strategy will be monitored by the following key performance indicators:

- Size of public membership
- Representative membership
- Active involvement of members
- Active involvement of council members
- Feedback from members/council members
- Membership Office performance.

Performance against these indicators will be monitored on a monthly basis by the Trust Board Secretary and Membership Manager and reports will be submitted quarterly to the Public Participation Committee meeting and the Trust Board for review. A report detailing analysis against the targets will be prepared at the end of the year in order to inform the annual revision of the strategy.

### 6. FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

The financial projections have been included within section 2. The detailed financial information is included within the financial template/workbook submitted to Monitor.

### 7. SUPPORTING SCHEDULES

## 7.1 Schedule 2: Mandatory Goods and Services 2009/10

	b care group	Learning disability	Adult mental illness	Child and adolescent psychiatry	Forensic psychiatry	Psycho-therapy	Old age psychiatry	Perinatal Services	Personality Disorder	Specialist Addictions	Psychotrauma	Chronic Fatigue Service	Improving Access to Talking Therapy (IAPT)	Dual Diagnosis	Talking Therapies	Primary Care Liaison	Check Total
Sub care group	Currency	700	710	711	712	713	715	4.055	0.005		_						407.070
Inpatient	Bed Days	4,104	81,572	5,010	748	0	27,046	1,655	6,935	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	127,070
PICU Rehabilitation - Inpatient	Bed Days Bed Days	0	11,718 7,584	31 0	2,555	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14,304 7,584
Continuing Care	Bed Days	0	0	0	9,490	0	24,273	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	33,763
Low Secure	Bed Days	0	3,815	0	1,734	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5,549
Community Forensic	Male community forensic rehabilitation facility places	0	0	0	16	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	16
Medium Secure	Bed Days	0	0	0	46,355	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	46,355
Other	Crisis House bed-days	0	2,146	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,146
Other	Crisis House Patients	0	95	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	95
Community Forensic	Male specialist forensic personality disorder hostel places	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8
Community Forensic	Community Contact	0	0	0	4,830	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4,830
Community	Supported Housing Placements/Beds/Patients	0	81	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	81
Community	Service Users with Self Directed Support	0	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	50
Community	Carers offered an assessment	0	200	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	200
Community	Carers receiving an assessment	0	190	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	190
Outpatient	Follow up	0	13,880	0	38	0	370	420	0	0	450	494	0	0	0	0	15,652

Sub care group			Adult mental illness	Child and adolescent psychiatry	Forensic psychiatry	Psycho-therapy	Old age psychiatry	Perinatal Services	Personality Disorder	Specialist Addictions	Psychotrauma	Chronic Fatigue Service	Improving Access to Talking Therapy (IAPT)	Dual Diagnosis	Talking Therapies	Primary Care Liaison	Check Total
Sub care group	Currency	700	710	711	712	713	715										
0 (2.21)	Apts/Attendances		400				50	400				005			0		
Outpatient	First Appointments	0	102	0	0	0	58	120	0	0	50	225	0	0	0	0	555
Outpatient	Referrals	0	0	0	0	0	0	700	0	0	165	0	0	0	0	0	865
Outpatient	Clozapine Clinic Caseload	0	456	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	456
Outpatient	Clozapine Clinic Contacts	0	2,050	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,050
Day Care	Referrals	0	519 449	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	519
Day Care	Caseload	·	_	0	0	·		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	449
Day Care	Day Treatment Attendances	0	9,933	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,933
Day Care	Discharges	0	517	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	517
CMHT	Caseload	0	3,715	0	0	0	248	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3,963
CMHT	Community Contact	0	74,608	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	74,608
Community	Referrals	0	121	0	0	0	0	0	100	0	0	0	0	100	474	260	1,055
Community	Caseload	0	0	0	0	0	420	0	135	718	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,273
Community	Contacts	0	0	0	0	0	5,030	0	14,383	0	0	0	5,000	0	37,758	0	62,171
Community	Assessments	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	460	0	460
Community	Crisis Intervention Contacts	0	1,500	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,500
Community	Consultations and training (Refugee and Asylum Seeker Team/Primary Care Liaison)	0	681	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	402	1,083
Community	Discharges	0	1	0	0	0	120	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	103	224
Assertive Outreach Team	Caseload	0	479	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	479
Assertive Outreach Team	Community Contact	0	27,216	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	27,216

Sub care group		Learning disability	Adult mental illness	Child and adolescent psychiatry	Forensic psychiatry	Psycho-therapy	Old age psychiatry	Perinatal Services	Personality Disorder	Specialist Addictions	Psychotrauma	Chronic Fatigue Service	Improving Access to Talking Therapy (IAPT)	Dual Diagnosis	Talking Therapies	Primary Care Liaison	Check Total
Sub care group	Currency	700	710	711	712	713	715										
Crisis resolution team	Patients Receiving Service	0	2,432	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,432
Crisis resolution team	Community Contact	0	21,052	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	21,052
Early Intervention team	Caseload	0	509	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	509
Early Intervention team	Community Contact (Including CAMHS)	0	13,777	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13,777
Early Intervention team	New cases	0	176	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	176
Early Intervention team	Supported Housing bed days	0	4,746	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4,746
Rehabilitation - Community	Caseload	0	482	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	482
Rehabilitation - Community	Community Contact	0	20,450	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20,450
Intermediate Care Services	Caseload	0	0	0	0	0	1,021	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,021
Intermediate Care Services	Referrals	0	0	0	0	0	20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20
Tier 3	Referrals	0	0	3,511	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3,511
Tier 3	Caseload	0	0	2,118	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,118
Tier 3	Community Contact	0	0	28,400	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	28,400
-		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total		4,104	307,302	39,070	65,766	0	58,606	2,895	21,561	718	665	719	5,000	100	38,692	765	545,963

## 7.2 Schedule 3: Mandatory Education and Training Services 2009/10:

NHS Foundation Trust: East London NHS Foundation Trust

MARS ID: EASTLONDON

NHS ID: RWK

Commissioning body	Educational body	Contract Length	Expiry date of contract	Student group	Type of training	Number of Students	Contract Value
		(Years)					(£' 000s)
NHS London and London Deanery	Not applicable	1 Year	31st March 2009	Junior Doctors	Salary support for training grade doctors	72	2355
NHS London	Not applicable	1 Year	31st March 2009	Post Graduate Centre	Study Leave and support for training facilities	Not applicable	139
NHS London	Not applicable	1 Year	31st March 2009	Undergraduate Doctors	SIFT	43	2194
NHS London	Not applicable	1 Year	31st March 2009	Specialty School	Medical	Not Applicable	76
NHS London	Various	1 Year	31st March 2009	Allied Health Professionals	Non Medical Training	22.58	277
NHS London	City University	1 Year	31st March 2009	Nursing	Non Medical Training	10.42	198
NHS London	Various	1 Year	31st March 2009	Practice Facilitators	Salary Support	Not Applicable	74
NHS London	City University	1 Year	31st March 2009	Nursing and Allied Health Professionals	CPD Allocation	-	237
NHS London	Various	1 Year	31st March 2009	Various	NVQ Allocation		70
Total							5620

#### **APPENDICES**

### Appendix 1:

### **Summary PEST Analysis**

#### Political

- World Class Commissioning, Contracts and Patient-led NHS and Service User Choice
- Improved access to Psychological Treatments – Operating Plan
- Healthcare for London, a framework for action
- Local Authority elected members and Health Scrutiny
- Children's Trust arrangements
- Cultural and political diversity of East London, Delivering Race Equality [DRE] and Race Relations Amendment (Act) [RRA(A)]
- New Mental Health FT contract from 2009/10.

#### **Economic**

- Impact of the wider economic situation and DH Central Allocations, National Pay Awards, NHS London and Local Health Economy Financial Position
- Practice Based Commissioning
- Payment by Results from 2010/11
- NHS and Private Sector competition
- Olympics 2012 and Thames Gateway Regeneration
- Workforce issues, including vacancies and recruitment hotspots
- New demand, e.g. new cases, overseas patients, refugees, including substance misuse problems.
- 18 week referral to treatment.

#### Social

- Social inclusion, including impact on secondary care
- Population growth, e.g. young people, older adults, immigration
- Deprivation across East London including high levels of physical morbidity
- Litigation
- Housing
- Substance Misuse and Addiction.
- Rising Unemployment.

#### Technological

- Information, Communication and Technology [ICT]
- New technologies, NICE guidance, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
- Assistive technology
- · Pharmacology.

### Appendix 2:

### **Summary SWOT Analysis**

### **Key Strengths**

- Our staff and their expertise leaders in a wide range of clinical areas and delivery of education and training
- Financial performance including accumulated revenue surpluses and cash deposits
- Working with and responding to the needs of diverse communities
- Service user participation in planning and delivery of services
- Partnership working including academic institutions
- Service improvement and performance, including specialist services
- · Overall Leadership of Trust Board
- Assurance and risk management arrangements
- Centre of excellence for research and development.
- Well-established, dedicated Safeguarding Children team.

#### **Key Weaknesses**

- Information infrastructure
- Some parts of the Trust estate
- Locality Services in some areas of the Trust
- Clinical leadership and middle management capacity
- Health outcomes monitoring.

#### **Opportunities**

- Use of accumulated revenue and cash surpluses to support financing of service re- configuration
- Provision of specialist and gender and culturally sensitive services, e.g. forensic, women only services, psychological therapies
- Service growth and opportunities over the next 2 - 3 years in relation to primary care, substance misuse, forensic learning disability, prisons serving North East London and psychological therapies
- Potential capital funding for improvement of inpatient and community premises
- Regeneration and development of the social inclusion agenda being led by PCTs and Local Authorities.
- Population Growth and Demand.

#### **Threats**

- National and London Financial Position, National Pay Awards and Research and Development Funding Taper
- Competition through plurality and diversity of providers
- Practice Based Commissioning
- Revised Mental Health Act & Capacity Act
- Recruitment and Retention
- · Poor housing and social infrastructure
- Adverse publicity due to publication of Homicide Inquiry Reports and Serious Incidents, and reaction to the closure of inpatient beds.
- 18 week referral to treatment
- · Population Growth and Demand.
- Socio-economic consequences of recession such as rising unemployment.

## Appendix 3

## 5-YEAR INTEGRATED BUSINESS PLAN: 2<sup>ND</sup> YEAR

### 2009/10 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads
IMF	PROVING QUALITY	(Clinical Effectiveness and Patient Experience) AND SAFETY		
1	Older adult services	Delivery of the Older Adult Strategy implementation plans Strategy to be approved by Trust Board Delivery of implementation plans	December 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval As per project timescales	Director of Operations and Borough Directors
2	Inpatient services	Delivery of improvement plans, in line with the Care Quality Commission's quality measures and standards 95% compliance against all standards Quarterly improvement against service user led inpatient standards and service user survey results	Quarterly progress reports	Director of Operations and Borough Directors
		Continued development of and implementation of AIMS for adults and older adults  Accreditation rating achieved for all wards	Quarterly progress reports	Medical Director
		Development of gender specific inpatient services  Plan to be approved by Trust Board  Full compliance with Department of Health's Safety, Dignity and  Privacy guidance (mixed sex accommodation standards)	October 2009 August 2009	Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Social
		Introduction of service user older adult surveys Surveys to be introduced Assessment of baseline performance and improvement plans/targets and progress monitored quarterly thereafter	October 2009 January 2010 and quarterly reports	Inclusion

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads
3	Adult community services	Improvements in clinical leadership, responsiveness and timeliness of assessment and brief treatment interventions through delivery of the community review's implementation plans.		Director of Operations and Borough Directors
		95% of initial assessments completed by senior staff within 28 days Full implementation of the new community services' structures in all three Boroughs.	Quarterly progress reports December 2009	
		Improve the implementation and quality of CPA		
		95% compliance rate on all CPA elements of care planning Undertake six monthly reviews/audits to monitor compliance and identify any areas for further development	Quarterly progress reports Six monthly review/audit	Medical Director
		Introduction of service user community surveys  Surveys in place Assessment of baseline performance and improvement plans/targets and improvements to be agreed and monitored quarterly thereafter	July 2009 November 2009 and quarterly reports	Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Social Inclusion
4	Physical Healthcare	Improve physical healthcare for service users and access to primary care services through delivery of the Trust-wide and local inpatient implementation plans.  Plan in place Review of plan Achievement of all key improvement areas as outlined in the plan	June 2009 December 2009 March 2010	Deputy Chief Executive and Head of Nursing

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads
5	Carers services	Improve carers services, engagement and support, and improve the number of carer's assessments offered through the development and implementation of a Trust-wide plan.  Plan in place 30% increase in the number of carers having had an assessment Introduction of carer surveys/feedback arrangements Assessment of baseline performance and improvement plans/targets in place, and progress monitored quarterly	June 2009 March 2010 July 2009 November 2009 and quarterly reports	Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Social Inclusion
6	Learning from incidents, SUIs, Homicides and SCRs	Improved management of SUIs and SCRs and action planning 100% completion of reviews within agreed deadlines  Regular reviews and audit to ensure that learning is embedded within clinical practice.  Quarterly reviews and seminars on learning from SUIs and SCRs Six monthly report to the Trust Board on themes and lessons learned from SUIs	Quarterly progress reports  Starting July 2009 6 monthly	
		Ensure that levels of violence and aggression amongst patients and staff are minimised  Monitor levels, review incidents and introduce measures such as training and support, review of activities, and reflective practice to reduce the number and severity of incidents  Reduction in frequency and severity of violence and aggression for both patients and staff.  90% of frontline inpatient staff trained in prevention and management of violence and aggression.  Evidence of an improvement in safety on the wards, as perceived by staff and patients, demonstrated by survey results.	Quarterly progress reports	Deputy Chief Executive

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads	
SUS	TAINABILITY				
7	Driving up Surpluses	Delivery of new service developments on time and to budget, e.g. Mother and Baby, Specialist Inpatient Secure Service for People with Learning Disability and Low Secure Developments  Major progress on strategy to enhance forensic bed capacity Service strategy reviews Invest to Save initiatives Extension of market testing	aby, Specialist Inpatient Secure Service for People with ability and Low Secure Developments  as on strategy to enhance forensic bed capacity and reviews a initiatives anarket testing  Quarterly progress reports		
8	Improved budget management	Budget accountability Improved cost reporting Implementation of trading accounts and service line reporting	Quarterly progress reports	Director of Finance	
THE	ABOVE PRIORITIES	S WOULD BE SUPPORTED BY THE FOLLOWING			
9	Training, Education and Development Programme	Increased uptake of statutory and mandatory training, in line with the Trust's policy and agreed key training sessions.  All staff to have undertaken key training sessions	March 2010		
	riogramme	Delivery of and increased uptake of the targeted customer care training.  All eligible front-line staff to have been trained.	March 2010	Deputy Chief Executive and	
		Development and delivery of the Organisational Development and Leadership Programme for the Trust Board, Directorate Management Teams and inpatient and community teams.  Review of existing 'Coaching for Capable Teams' development programme  Development programme in place for Community Mental Health Teams	May 2009 July 2009	Director of Human Resources	
		Clinical and Management Leadership programme in place.	December 2009		

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads
10	Modern and fit for purpose premises	Delivery of the 2009/10 community capital investment programme for community venues/sites and ensure that existing premises are maintained to a high standard  Acquire 3 new community premises for Tower Hamlets (2 CMHT and 1 CAMHS) and 1 new community base for City & Hackney Implementation of the backlog maintenance programme	October 2009, subject to affordability Quarterly reports	Director of Estates, Facilities and Capital Development
		Development of the business case for the re-provision of the City & Hackney Centre for Mental Health inpatient service  Strategic Outline Business Case to be completed	June 2009, subject to planning negotiations	Projects Director
TRU	JSTWIDE DEVELOPN	MENTS		
1	Young People Service Strategy	Strategy to be considered by Service Delivery Board prior to submission to Member's Council.	July 2009	Medical Director and Clinical Directors
2	Non Verbal Therapies Strategy	Strategy to be considered by Service Delivery Board.  Implementation of Trust-wide and borough plans.	June 2009 March 2010	Medical Director, Director of Therapies and Director of Research
3	City and Hackney Rehabilitation and Recovery Service	Reprovide inpatient rehabilitation services at City and Hackney centre for mental health as per IBP.  New reprovided service fully operational.	October review	Director of Performance and Business Development and City and Hackney Borough Director
4	Expansion of Trust-wide Mother & Baby Unit based at the City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health	Service fully operational	March 2010	Director of Performance and Business Development and City and Hackney Borough Director

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads			
5	Specialist Secure Inpatient Service for People with Learning Disability based at the John Howard Centre	Service fully operational	June 2009	Director of Performance and Business Development and Forensic Service Director			
CITY AND HACKNEY CAMHS SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS							
1	Expansion of the CAMHS Parental Mental Health Service	Service fully operational	July 2009	Director of Operations and Specialist Services Director			
2	New Child and Adolescent Mental Health service to under 25s	Service fully operational	July 2009	Director of Operations and Specialist Services Director			
3	Expansion of the Paediatric Liaison Service	Service fully operational	July 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval	Director of Operations and Specialist Services Director			
CIT	Y AND HACKNEY AD	OULTS AND OLDER ADULT SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS					
1	Expansion of the Paediatric Liaison Service	Service fully operational	July 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval	Director of Operations and City and Hackney Borough Director			
2	Additional staffing for Home Treatment Team for Adults in City & Hackney	New staff in post	September 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval	Director of Operations and City and Hackney Borough Director			

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads	
3	Psychiatric Liaison Service for Adults in City & Hackney	Service fully operational	December 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval	Director of Operations and City and Hackney Borough Director	
4	Enhanced Psychological Service for Older People in City & Hackney	Service fully operational	December 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval	Director of Operations and City and Hackney Borough Director	
5	New Specialist Intermediate Care Service for Older People in City & Hackney	mediate Care ice for Older ole in City &  December 2009 subject to PCT involvement and approval		Director of Operations and City and Hackney Borough Director	
TOV	VER HAMLETS ADUI	TS SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS			
1	Tower Hamlets Early Detection Service	Service fully operational	September 2009	Director of Operations and Tower Hamlets Borough Director	
2	Non-Verbal Therapies Service for Adults in Tower Hamlets	Service fully operational	September 2009	Director of Operations and Tower Hamlets Borough Director	
3	Rehabilitation Service for Tower Hamlets	New staff in post	September 2009	Director of Operations and Tower Hamlets Borough Director	

	Area	Action/Target	Delivery/Review Date	Executive & Corporate Director Leads
TOV	WER HAMLETS ADUI	TS SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS		
4	Crisis House Service for Tower Hamlets	New staff in post	September 2009	Director of Operations and Tower Hamlets Borough Director
5	Additional staffing for Home Treatment Team for Adults in Tower Hamlets	New staff in post	September 2009	Director of Operations and Tower Hamlets Borough Director

## Appendix 4

## **Capital Plan 2009 - 2012**

3 Year Capital Plan	2009/10		2010/11	2011/12
City & Hackney Locality				
Homerton Moves	3	00	0	0
Mother & Baby	1,2	93	23	0
Homerton East Wing Reprovision OBC/FBC	2	30	230	230
Shepherdess Walk - Dilapidation	1	00	0	0
City & Hackney Total	1,9	23	253	230
<u>Forensics</u>				
Wolfson House	9,2	63	3,087	0
Learning Disabilities - Interim unit	2	:69	0	0
Moorgate Seclusion Room	1	50	0	0
Forensics Total	9,6	82	3,087	0
Tower Hamlets				
Pharmacy Mile End	2	:50	0	0
Tower Hamlets Total	2	50	0	0
<u>Trust-wide</u>				
Asset property management	8	50	1,000	1,000
Staff Capitalisation	5	00	500	500
Connecting for Health	1	00	100	100
Nurse Rostering System	1	00	0	0
Trust-wide Total	1,5	50	1,600	1,600
Grand Total	13,4	05	4,940	1,830